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Hon Peter Collier BA DipEd MLC

Minister for Energy; Training and Workforce Development; Indigenous Affairs

11th Floor, Dumas House

2 Havelock Street

WEST PERTH WA   6005

Dear Minister,

In accordance with Section 54 of the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996 and Section 61 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006, we have pleasure in submitting for your information and presentation  
to Parliament, the Annual Report of C.Y. O’Connor Institute for the year ending 31st December 2011.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 and the Vocational Education and Training Act 1996.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012

stAtement of ComplIAnCe
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‘Art for learning’ exhibition, 
northam

The program was a cooperative 
effort between Killara and 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute with 
the opening showcasing the 
artwork of participants with 
disabilities who were involved in 
a 20 week program aimed at 
improving literacy and numeracy 
skills through arts and crafts. 
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It is with a considerable degree of satisfaction that  
I reflect on the broad range of achievements of the 
Institute during 2011. Vocational education and 
training has a key contribution to the social and 
economic development of the central Wheatbelt 
region and I believe that the Institute is ‘punching 
well above its weight’ in this regard.

The re-structuring of the Institute is now complete 
with the adoption of a ‘regionalisation’ model that 
places the key decision makers in relation to training 
delivery in charge of each campus. Not surprisingly, 
the Institute has recorded its highest ever enrolments 
this year - now over 735,000 student curriculum hours 
including commercial delivery - and well on the way 
to achieving the target that we have set ourselves of 
reaching 1,000,000 hours within the next few years.

Without compromising its very strong focus on 
vocational training, the Institute has continued its 
journey to re-position as a dual-sector tertiary 
institution. By the end of the year, negotiations were 
well-advanced with Curtin University to collaborate 
in the delivery of an Associate Degree in Agribusiness 
at the Muresk Institute, in support of the Minister’s 
vision for Muresk to retain its iconic status as a centre 
of excellence in the delivery of agricultural education. 
The Associate Degree program is anticipated to be 
ready for delivery from Semester One in 2013. In the 

Eileen O’Connell | Chair, Governing Council

CHAIRpeRson’s RepoRtoveRvIew

meantime, the Institute delivered a tertiary pathway 
program at Muresk at Certificate Four level in 2011 
and will retain a similar program at Muresk in 2012.

Several key training facilities were opened during the 
year. Hon Jim Chown MLC, representing the Minister, 
opened the Automotive Technology Skills Centre at 
the Northam campus in March; and Ministers Collier 
and Grylls jointly opened the Industrial and Farm 
Safety Skills Development Centre - our satellite 
campus in the Avon Industrial Park - in July. I am 
looking forward to this Centre becoming very busy 
as the Industrial Park fills with tenants. It was also 
pleasing to note the excellent progress made in 
relation to applications for funding for a new Health 
Services Training Centre for the Moora campus; a 
multi-purpose trades training centre for the Merredin 
campus; and a new, single-site campus for servicing 
the southern Wheatbelt region, centred on Narrogin. 
My thanks go to Stephen Madson, Regional Director 
- Southern Region, for his leadership of the Narrogin 
staff in the difficult period following the fire at the 
Narrogin campus in March. It was pleasing to see 
the building return to operational status in time for 
the commencement of Semester Two.

As reported upon last year, I was particularly 
pleased to see the Institute score very highly in  
the independent assessment of the level of student 
satisfaction - again, well above the State average. 
This is attributed to our expert staff who are 
passionate about teaching and learning, and 
creating a highly supportive student experience. 
Examples of where we particularly excelled are:

•	 The delivery of the Certificate IV in Agriculture 
program at the Muresk Institute, led by lecturer 
Kieran Forrest;

•	 The conduct of the Pig Industry Recognition of 
Prior Learning project, led by lecturer Judi 
Forsyth;

•	 The further investment in mobile ITC equipment, 
as part of the Institute’s Open Learning Strategy, 
to assist with training and assessment in the work 
place;

•	 The continuation of the Certificate IV in Small 
Business Management and the Certificate III in 
Financial Services programs delivered to students 
incarcerated in Acacia Prison, delivered by 
husband and wife team Dr Sak Sarangapani 
and Mrs Karpagam Sakthivelpathi;
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•	 The marked increase in delivery in the Northern 
Region - up 5.68 per cent from 2010 levels - 
achieved under the very capable leadership  
of Ms Linda Bright;

•	 The very strong delivery in Nursing, Aged Care, 
Education, Community Services, Wool and Local 
Government, achieved by their respective 
lecturing teams; 

•	 The conduct of a Certificate II in Civil 
Construction at the Northam campus for 
Aboriginal students seeking employment in the 
local government and/or resources sectors, led 
by lecturers Daron Wesley and Jack Banes; and

•	 The strengthening of the framework to assure 
quality in our training documentation - an 
important aspect considering the re-registration 
audit of the Institute is now a little over twelve 
months away.

The Governing Council was saddened to receive 
letters of resignation from Ms Lynnette O’Reilly and 
Mrs Sandra English during the year. May I take this 
opportunity, on behalf of the Institute community,  
to thank Lynnette and Sandra for their contribution 
to Council over the period of their appointment.

On a very sad note, late in the year I received news 
of the tragic death of two young students of the 
Institute. The Council, along with the entire Institute 
community, extends condolences to the families of 
the two students.

In summary, the Council is well-justified to be 
pleased with the growth and direction of the 
Institute during 2011, under the very strong leadership 
of Managing Director, John Scott and his Executive 
team. The investments made in a number of areas 
will position the Institute as a highly relevant regional 
tertiary institution well into the future

I thank my fellow members of Council for their 
contribution to the effective governance of the 
Institute during the year.
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It is a privilege to lead a team of such highly 
dedicated professionals who have, once again, 
been independently assessed as having student 
satisfaction levels well-above the State average.  
This tells me that the environmental factors within  
the Institute are close to optimal in terms of providing 
our students with a good teaching and learning 
experience. This creates for us a competitive 
advantage in the marketplace and a defining 
quality of C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

In many respects, 2011 was the year in which the bulk 
of the strategic directions developed for the Institute 
in 2010 were implemented - the key issues being 
re-structuring; re-positioning; and growing the 
delivery by more than ten per cent.

The re-structure associated with the ‘regionalisation’ 
model was gradually bedded down throughout the 
year, with Regional Directors in place in all campuses. 
By the end of the year, the portfolio structure of 
program management was overlaid on this 
arrangement, having been determined as the most 
efficient way in which to manage the delivery. The 
previous, single Academic Director role was split into 
two General Manager Positions - one with a focus on 
service delivery and business development, and the 
other with a focus on teaching, learning, and 

innovation. This approach will stand us well into the 
future as the Institute prepares for its re-registration 
audit which is scheduled for early in 2013.

Enrolments in 2011 reached the highest level in  
the history of the Institute - just over 735,000 students 
curriculum hours (profile 621,404; commercial 28,229; 
tender 16,508; and auspicing 26,804); and well on  
the way to the target that we have set ourselves of 
reaching 1,000,000 hours within the next few years. 
This level of delivery will provide the necessary critical 
mass to enable the Institute to afford a number of 
positions, for example a Career Guidance Officer, 
which we currently do not have.

The journey towards re-positioning the Institute as  
a dual-sector institution, i.e. one that offers both 
vocational training courses and higher education 
programs, gained focus during 2011 with the 
appointment of a Director of Tertiary Education. 
Capitalising on the opportunities offered by Muresk, a 
tertiary pathway program in the form of a Certificate 
IV in Agriculture commenced in Semester One; and 
negotiations with Curtin University commenced later 
in the year regarding the delivery of an Associate 
Degree in Agribusiness program in 2013. In parallel with 
these developments, consultations have commenced 
with other WA-based universities to explore the 
potential to deliver higher education programs in 
Environmental Management, Business, Nursing and 
Primary Education.

2011 has been a stand-out year in regard to the 
development of facilities at the Institute. The work  
to modernise the trade training workshop at the 
Northam campus was finished, and a new 
Automotive Technology Skills Centre was opened. 
Importantly, the facilities and equipment required  
to support the delivery of Electrical trade training  
are in place and the Institute is well-positioned to 
commence delivery of this training once the 
qualification is placed on scope during Semester 
One, 2012. This delivery will make a major contribution 
to the State economy as it is recognised as a skills 
shortage area.

The satellite campus in the Avon Industrial Park was 
jointly opened in July by Minister’s Collier and Grylls. 
This will be the focal point for the development of 
new capability in the delivery of industrial and farm 
safety training and associated high risk licences.  

John Scott | managing Director

mAnAGInG DIReCtoR’s RepoRtoveRvIew
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In summary, it is very satisfying to see the Institute 
moving forward on so many fronts. 2011 was indeed 
a busy year in which most of the ‘heavy lifting’  
was done to implement the re-structuring and 
re-positioning directions that were set in the previous 
year. The Institute is now well-prepared to address 
the challenges of operating in a highly contestable 
training market. Furthermore, we are able to offer  
a differentiated service through a focus on open 
learning; and we understand that our consistently 
high levels of student satisfaction offer us a 
competitive advantage. From a business sense,  
we are in a strong position.

Finally, I would like to thank the Governing Council 
for their vision and support of the numerous 
capacity building activities that were undertaken 
during 2011. Together, we are ensuring the ongoing 
relevance of C.Y. O’Connor Institute as an emerging 
regional tertiary institution.

In addition to this, with major enterprises now moving 
into the Avon Industrial Park, the campus will provide 
a useful shopfront for a variety of other training 
services.

Unfortunately, the main Narrogin campus was 
subject to an arson attack on 6 March, rendering 
the heritage building uninhabitable for a period of 
four months. I would like to echo the Chair’s remarks 
in acknowledging the leadership displayed by 
Regional Director, Stephen Madson, who responded 
quickly to stabilise the delivery program in the 
southern region during the ensuing period. I am 
pleased to report that a strong business case has 
been presented to Government for funding to 
enable the construction of a new, single site  
campus for the Narrogin community. 

An ongoing challenge for the Institute is to meet  
the expectations of our students who are highly 
dispersed throughout the Wheatbelt, and beyond, in 
relation to teaching, learning and assessment. I am 
pleased to report the progress we are making in the 
area of adoption of innovative delivery strategies.  
As part of the Institute’s investment plan in support  
of developing our capacity as an open learning 
institution, $40,000 was invested in the procurement 
of a range of information technology and 
communication devices to support lecturer uptake 
of new educational technology. A number of staff 
have volunteered their time and expertise to 
become ‘e-advisors’ to assist in the application of 
technology for both staff and students.

The Institute continues to achieve very solid outcomes 
in relation to Aboriginal education and training. The 
Education Support program involving 15 Aboriginal 
and Islander Education Officers (from the 
Department of Education) from across the Wheatbelt 
had record enrolments and was a great success, with 
workshops being held at the Northam campus. The 
NOW Green program in Narrogin enrolled 17 students 
in a Certificate II in Horticulture; and the Leadership 
program in Moora also had very strong enrolments, 
with 30 Aboriginal people enrolled in a Certificate II  
in Leadership - many whom went on to enrol in other 
courses at the Moora campus. My congratulations  
to the lecturers involved as well as the Aboriginal 
support team.
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exeCutIve summARYoveRvIew

The focus in 2011 was very much on implementing 
the strategic decisions made in 2010: to re-position 
the Institute to more directly focus on the 
development of tertiary pathways; to leverage  
off and reinforce the points of differentiation of the 
Institute; and to make the Institute more competitive 
in an increasingly contestable training market.

At an operational level, the most important 
development was the bedding down of the re-
structure of the Institute, with the key decision makers 
involved in the day-to-day management of delivery 
being located in the four sub-regional campuses. 
This initiative will enable the Institute to grow the 
business in a more sustainable and responsive 
manner in the sub-regional areas. The fact that this 
occurred while the Institute expanded its delivery 
over 2010 levels by 10.6% reflects great credit upon 
the leadership and teamwork displayed at all levels.

Some important groundwork was laid in the 
development of additional capabilities that will 
stand the Institute well into the future. New 
infrastructure, including a standalone Automotive 
Technology Skills Centre, was commissioned at the 
Northam campus to support trade training; and the 
bulk of the work was completed to bring Electrical 
trade training, together with Security Operations and 
Hairdressing training, on to scope. Additional delivery 
sites were established at the Muresk Campus and 
the Avon Industrial Park to provide a stronger focus 
on agricultural training and industrial and farm safety 
training respectively.

Training in wool harvesting provided the bulk of the 
domestic commercial delivery within the Institute in 
2011, complemented by a new line of international 
commercial delivery in the form of an auspicing 
contract with a provider of hospitality training in 
India. This business relationship has potential to 
expand and make a significant contribution to  
the revenue base of the Institute.

The Aboriginal Skills Development Plan was revised  
in 2011 and provided a robust framework in which  
to manage the further growth and development  
of training for Aboriginal people. Some excellent 
outcomes were achieved across the Institute 
including the leadership programs in Moora; the 
horticulture programs in Narrogin; and the civil 
construction programs in Northam. The rejuvenation 
of the Aboriginal Education, Employment and 

Training Committee during 2011 was also a positive 
development in facilitating linkages between the 
Institute and the various Aboriginal communities 
across the Wheatbelt.

Some important organisational development work 
was completed in two areas. The first involved some 
foundational discussion around the philosophy of 
open learning and what it means for the Institute. 
This led to the development of a position paper on 
open learning that will be useful in communicating 
the concept to stakeholders as the Institute 
continues to transition towards an open learning 
institution. The second piece of work involved the 
development of a People Development Framework. 
This work was commissioned to assist in building a 
stronger culture within the Institute as a learning 
organisation - an important enabling step towards 
becoming an open learning institution.

The journey towards re-positioning the Institute as  
a dual-sector institution, i.e. one that offers both 
vocational training courses and higher education 
programs, gained focus during the year with the 
appointment of a Director, Tertiary Education. 
Capitalising on the opportunities offered by Muresk, a 
tertiary pathway program in the form of a Certificate 
IV in Agriculture commenced in Semester One; and 
negotiations with Curtin University commenced later 
in the year regarding the delivery of an Associate 
Degree in Agribusiness program in 2013. Important 
links were made with all of the agricultural colleges 
during the year which will assist with the task of 
marketing the associate degree program in 2012.

Against this background of change and innovation, 
the Institute continued to perform at the forefront of 
State Training Providers (STPs) in the area of student 
satisfaction. Having been independently assessed  
as having the highest levels of students satisfaction 
of all STPs for the last three years in a row, the Institute 
managed to increase its overall satisfaction rate  
from 92.4 per cent in 2010 to 93.3 per cent in 2011 -  
a remarkable achievement.

2012 will present the Institute with an opportunity  
to further consolidate as the focus shifts towards 
preparing for the re-registration audit in early 2013.
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oRGAnIsAtIonAl oveRvIewoveRvIew

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has been providing 
vocational education and training services for the 
Wheatbelt region of Western Australia for 26 years.  
To enable service delivery across the 155,000 square 
kilometres of the region, the Institute has four major 
campuses strategically located at Northam, 
Narrogin, Merredin and Moora. During 2011 the 
Institute also commenced delivery of a training 
program at the Muresk Campus of Curtin University.

The Institute currently consists of three directorates 
which provide training services and support across 
all four campuses. The directorates are:

•	 Academic and Innovation; 

•	 Business Services; and

•	 Academic and Business Development. 

Individually and collectively these directorates apply 
themselves to the development and implementation 
of a range of programs to meet the education and 
training needs of the region. These programs are 
delivered through engaging and partnering with  
the community, industry and individual business 
enterprises. The Institute offers multiple delivery 
modes to attract students from across the region, 
the state, the nation and internationally.

Academic and Innovation

The Academic and Innovation Directorate is 
responsible for the quality assurance of training 
delivery within the Institute and its compliance with 
the AQTF. The Directorate also has a key role in 
encouraging and engaging people with a disability 
to participate in education and training; and has 
responsibility for the marketing and promotion of the 
current and future activities of the Institute at the 
local, regional and state level. These and other 
services are delivered from the following business 
units:

•	 Access and Equity;

•	 Community Relations;

•	 Quality and Planning;

•	 Provision of curriculum and learning materials, 
including electronic access;

•	 International activity;

•	 Training in ‘Training and Assessment’;

•	 Professional Development of staff;

•	 Customer Service and Client Management   
Information Systems (CMIS); and

•	 Bookshop.

Business Services

The corporate services which support the Institute’s 
operations are delivered by the Business Services 
Directorate. As well, the Directorate coordinates the 
strategic and operational planning and research 
activities across the Institute including monitoring 
and reporting on the Institute’s key performance 
indicators and managing the continuous 
improvement programs. This Directorate is also 
responsible for ensuring that the Institute complies 
with relevant legislation and external standards. 

The following business units provide these services: 

•	 Aboriginal Services;

•	 Finance;

•	 Human Resources;

•	 Information Technology;

•	 Library;

•	 Records Management;

•	 Research and Planning; and

•	 Data Administration.

Academic and Business Development

The Academic and Business Development 
Directorate is responsible for the delivery of 
government funded training and the identification, 
development and maintenance of commercial 
training to clients of C.Y. O’Connor Institute located 
within Australia. It undertakes the development and 
delivery of vocational education and training 
programs, including those that target and support 
the training and employment needs and aspirations 
of industry, business and the community across the 
region. A diverse range of staff deliver services and 
programs from the following regional business units:
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•	 Avon (centred on Northam);

•	 Northern (centred on Moora);

•	 Southern (centred on Narrogin);

•	 Eastern (centred on Merredin); and

•	 Trade Skills Delivery and Support.

The four campuses and directorates of C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute provide a diversity of services 
including:

•	 Career counselling and job readiness skills;

•	 Corporate training;

•	 Delivery of VET-in-Schools;

•	 Consultancy services for work-based training;

•	 Holistic skills recognition using Recognition of 
Prior Learning (RPL);

•	 New and existing worker traineeships and 
apprenticeships;

•	 Short course programs and just-in-time training;

•	 Vocational education and competency-based  
training according to the Australian Quality 
Training Framework (AQTF); and

•	 Work-based delivery and assessment.

In 2011, the Institute had 163.5 full-time equivalent 
staff and 735,659 full-time and part-time student 
enrolments, including 826 apprentices and trainees. 
The Institute delivered   692,945 student curriculum 
hours of training across the 211 qualifications, 
courses and units of competency on scope. Utilising 
flexible delivery modes, the proportion of training 
occurring off-campus increased during the year. 
Specifically, the increase in online delivery has 
stimulated enrolments from outside the Wheatbelt 
region. 
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oRGAnIsAtIonAl vIs Ion, mIssIon & vAluesoveRvIew

Our Vision

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as a leading 
provider of tertiary education services that 
contribute to regional and state development.

Our Mission

Our mission is to provide education and training 
services to enable our students in the Wheatbelt 
and beyond to achieve their potential.

Our Values

At C.Y. O’Connor Institute we deliver our programs 
and services from a foundation of shared values, 
namely:

•	 Integrity;

•	 Inclusiveness;

•	 Respect;

•	 Honesty; and

•	 Trust.

We will demonstrate these values by:

•	 Providing an inclusive and professional learning 
environment;

•	 Encouraging responsibility and empowerment;

•	 Displaying trusting and respectful behaviour;

•	 Behaving with individual and group integrity;

•	 Adopting sustainable practices in all Institute 
functions;

•	 Providing modern and flexible methods of 
learning for our clients; and

•	 Providing equitable access to services and 
facilities.
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GoveRnInG CounCIloveRvIew

The Governing Council of the C.Y. O’Connor Institute comprises a Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson and  
10 members, who are appointed by the Minister for Training and Workforce Development. As representatives 
of industry and the community, the members of the Governing Council are appointed for their expertise in 
education and training, industry or community affairs and for their ability to contribute to the strategic 

directions of the Institute. The Institute’s Managing Director is also a member of the Council.

Council Members in 2011 were:

Ms Eileen O’Connell  Chair

Ms Jan Court   Deputy Chair   Appointed 28 November 2011

Ms Lynnette O’Reilly  Deputy Chair   Resigned 8 August 2011

Mr Steven Pollard  Member

Ms Helen Bennett  Member 

Mr Grant Arthur  Member

Ms Debra Franks  Member

Ms Yvonne Green  Member

Ms Sandra Randell  Member

Mr Paul Tomlinson  Member

Ms Sandra English  Member   Resigned 16 December 2011

Mr John Scott   Managing Director
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oRGAnIsAtIonAl stRuCtuReoveRvIew

Enabling Legislation

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is a Statutory Authority established under section 35 of the Vocational Education  
and Training Act 1996.

Responsible Minister

The Hon Peter Collier BA DipEd MLC. Minister for Energy; Training and Workforce Development; and 
Indigenous Affairs.

Accountable Authority

The Accountable Authority for C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the Governing Council. The Managing Director  
is the Chief Executive Officer and is supported by an Executive comprising three General Managers. 

Managing Director

Academic & Innovation

Business Services

Finance

Human Resources

Information Technology

Library

Academic &  
Innovation

Access & Equity

Marketing

Student Services

Delivery

Academic & 
Business Development

Northern

Agribusiness & 
Farm Technology

Trades

Avon

Eastern

Southern

Records Management

Bookshop

International Delivery

Quality

Teaching & Learning
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peRfoRmAnCe mAnAGement fRAmewoRkoveRvIew

Government Goals

The State Government has developed five 
government goals to guide and assist Western 
Australian public sector agencies in developing  
their programs, polices and services. However, due 
to the range and diversity of government agencies, 
not all the goals apply equally to all the agencies. 
Within the context of the five government goals, C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute has developed and implemented 
a strategic plan aimed at increasing its capacity to 
provide quality services to its customers and thus 
contribute  to regional workforce development.

The State Government goals are:

Goal 1: State Building - Major Projects

Building strategic infrastructure that will create  
jobs and underpin Western Australia’s long-term 
economic development.

Goal 2: Financial and Economic Responsibility

Responsibly managing the State’s finances through 
the efficient and effective delivery of services, 
encouraging economic activity and reducing 
regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Goal 3: Outcomes Based Service Delivery

Greater focus on achieving results in key service 
delivery areas for the benefit of all Western 
Australians.

Goal 4: Strong Focus on the Regions

Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure 
investment and economic development to improve 
the overall quality of life in remote and regional 
areas.

Goal 5: Social and Environmental 
Responsibility

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a 
socially and environmentally responsible manner  
for the long-term benefit of the State.

The Institute monitors and reviews its progress  
against these goals and its strategic priorities 
through a number of means:

•	 The Managing Director’s Performance 
Agreement;

•	 Monthly Performance Reports;

•	 Bi-monthly Reports to the Governing Council;

•	 Key Performance Indicators; and

•	 Monthly meetings of the Executive Management 
Team

The main contribution by C.Y. O’Connor Institute to 
the State Government’s Goals is via goal number 
four (4) Strong Focus on the Regions - Greater focus  
on service delivery, infrastructure investment and 
economic development to improve the overall  
quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

In 2011, the Institute’s activities contributed to 
achievements aligned with Goals 1, 3 and 4. The 
strategic objectives of the Institute are set out in the 
2011-2013 Strategic Plan and are reflective of these 
Goals. Achievements against the Objectives are set 
out later in the report.

Goal 1: State Building - Major Projects

Building strategic infrastructure that will  
create jobs and underpin Western Australia’s 
long-term economic development.

Major enhancements to infrastructure occurred 
during the year with the opening of the Automotive 
Technology Skills Centre at the Northam campus, 
complemented by new office accommodation for 
Trades lecturing staff. These facilities have 
significantly enhanced the capacity of the Trades 
area to deliver quality training and the new offices 
have greatly improved the working environment for 
staff, who are now co-located.

A satellite training facility was established in the 
Avon Industrial Park in collaboration with the Avon 
Community Development Foundation, and was 
jointly opened in July by Ministers Collier and Grylls. 
The facility will focus on the delivery of industrial and 
farm safety training and associated high risk 
licences.

On 6 March 2011, the main campus in Narrogin was 
extensively damaged by fire, necessitating staff and 
students to be temporarily relocated. The building 
was repaired and staff and students moved back into 
the refurbished offices and classrooms in July. 
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Planning has commenced for the development  
of a new campus in the Southern Region with a 
business case having been prepared for the 
construction of a new, single site campus for the 
Narrogin community, adjacent to Narrogin Senior 
High School. It is expected that a decision on this 
proposal will be forthcoming during 2012.

Goal 3: Outcomes Based Service Delivery

Greater focus on achieving results in key 
service delivery areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians.

The strategic priorities for C.Y. O’Connor Institute in 
2011 were focused on supporting the development 
of sustainable regional communities. However, in 
contributing to the overall quality of life in remote 
and regional areas, the Institute was also delivering 
outcomes-based services that would directly and 
indirectly benefit all Western Australians. These 
strategic priorities, not only contribute to the well-
being of the region, but also the State’s long-term 
economic development.

During 2011, the following work was undertaken to 
achieve Government Goal 3:

•	 The Institute achieved significant growth in the 
provision of government supported training in 
2011. Overall growth of 12% in profile training  
was achieved with increases in areas including 
education, community services, agriculture and 
health services.

•	 The number of qualifications, courses and units 
of competency on the scope of the Institute 
increased by 30 to a total of 211 - a 17% increase.

•	 Certificates III and IV in Agriculture were 
successfully delivered to an enthusiastic group  
of young people at the Muresk Campus. In 
addition, planning was undertaken to identify 
potential higher education partners for the 
Institute to work with in the future to provide 
programs and courses relevant to communities 
within the Wheatbelt. Noteworthy is that the 
strong interest from the agricultural industry has 
informed the decision to collaborate with Curtin 
University in the delivery of an Associate Degree 
in Agribusiness from 2013. 

•	 An Institute organisational restructure was 
implemented during the year. The establishment 
of four regional Directors, each having 
responsibility for training delivery within their 
respective region, significantly enhanced the 
responsiveness and management of training 
delivery. A Director for the Centre for Agribusiness 
and Farm Technology, based at Muresk, and a 
Director Trade Skills Delivery and Support, based 
at the Northam Campus, were also appointed.

•	 Continuing developments in open learning have 
given Wheatbelt residents greater access to 
education and training services. Funding was 
allocated for the procurement of mobile IT 
equipment in order to expand the technological 
capability of the Institute. This resulted in 
increased flexibility in delivery, improving the 
opportunities for students to receive information 
electronically and to respond accordingly.

Goal 4: Strong Focus on the Regions

Greater focus on service delivery, 
infrastructure investment and economic 
development to improve the overall quality  
of life in remote and regional areas.

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is the major public provider of 
vocational education and training in the Wheatbelt, 
providing services across an area of approximately 
155,000 square kilometres. The services delivered by 
the Institute are provided from four main campuses 
located in Northam, Narrogin, Moora and Merredin. 
These regional campuses are supported by 42 
delivery sites in the form of the network of 
Community Resource Centres.

During 2011, the Institute progressed a number of 
initiatives, in particular the implementation of an 
organisational restructure, which focused on 
providing more opportunities for access to 
vocational education and training across the 
Wheatbelt. Methods were explored to increase  
and diversify services and products to better meet 
the training needs of industry, business and the 
community. These activities contributed to building 
social capital and enhancing the overall quality of 
life in remote and regional communities.

Examples of achievements within each of the four 
regions, Trades and Muresk are highlighted in the 
following pages.
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Avon

The Avon region is serviced by the Northam campus, 
which is the primary training facility supporting the 
Shires of Northam, Toodyay, York, Goomalling and 
Dowerin. This campus also serves as the 
administrative centre for the Institute. Some 
achievements within the Avon region for 2011 
include:

•	 During the year, online delivery of the Certificate 
of General Education for Adults (CGEA) was 
developed and trialled. This increased the 
number of people able to access literacy and 
numeracy training and has been welcomed  
and supported by external agencies and the 
community. The online delivery is currently 
available to students enrolled in the higher  
levels of CGEA and further development is being 
undertaken to expand access to all levels within 
the program.

•	 The Institute has invested significantly in physical 
and human resources to develop the Certificate 
II in Security Operations for delivery in 2012.  
This training will provide an excellent introduction 
to the security industry. It is expected that 
graduates of the program will be competitive  
for employment at the Yongah Hill Detention 
Centre.

•	 Fifteen students participated in Certificate III  
and IV in Education Support programs - a 
Commonwealth funded learning program for 
Aboriginal and Islander Education Officers. This 
program has enjoyed a good success rate and 
will be continued in 2012.

•	 There has been an expansion of, and increased 
participation in, local government and ranger 
training. The Institute expects further increases in 
demand due to amendments to legislation.

•	 The region has seen an increase in the number  
of students undertaking the Certificate III in 
Children’s Services due to the recent changes  
to licensing requirements. The demand for RPL  
in this course has also increased.

•	 Training in Local Government Regulatory 
Services has been well received by the 
Indigenous community and skills acquired in  
this training are proving sought after in local 
government and the mining industry.

•	 There has been significant growth in the delivery 
of the Certificate IV in Small Business Management 
at Acacia Prison. The success of this was 
highlighted at the end-of-year graduation 
ceremony where 26 prisoners were awarded 
vocational qualifications.

•	 Training in Nursing was very strong throughout 
the year, building on the successes in previous 
years in addressing the skills shortage of health 
care workers in the Wheatbelt. The planning for  
a nursing simulation ward at the Moora campus 
continued.

Northern

The Northern region is serviced by the Moora 
campus, supporting seven local government  
areas in the northern Wheatbelt. Regional training is 
delivered through established centres at Dalwallinu, 
Wongan Hills, Dandaragan, Jurien Bay, Gingin, 
Bindoon, Lancelin and via community Resource 
Centres. During 2011 the Northern region continued 
to expand and strengthen relationships with local 
industry, the community and government agencies, 
in order to meet community requirements for quality 
training. Some of the achievements within the 
Northern region for 2011 include:

•	 The Institute has moved towards establishing 
greater presence in Jurien Bay with the creation 
of the Jurien Bay Community Consultative 
Committee and the Jurien Bay Working Party  
to implement the recommendations of the 
aforementioned committee. This is of particular 
importance following the selection of Jurien Bay 
as a Super Town.

•	 During 2011 a concerted effort by staff in the 
Northern region resulted in a significant increase 
in training programs offered in the region over 
the year. A particular success was the Certificate 
II in Automotive and Certificate I in Industrial Skills 
at the Central Midlands Senior High School. The 
trades lecturer based at Moora delivering these 
programs also raised the profile of the Institute in 
regard to automotive apprenticeships, resulting 
in an expansion of employment based training in 
the region, supported well by the Noongar 
community.

•	 The range of short courses on offer also 
increased, including a very successful ‘Maintain 
a car’ program in Moora and an ‘Outdoor 
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Equipment’ program in Wongan Hills - both of 
these were offered as night courses. Other short 
courses included Forklift, White Card, Welding, 
First Aid and Responsible Service of Alcohol.

•	 A demand for Occupational Health and Safety, 
and Hairdressing training was identified in the 
region, and work is currently underway to 
prepare the necessary learning and assessment 
resources for these qualifications. The Diploma in 
Occupational Health and Safety was placed on 
scope by the end of the year.

Southern

The Southern region is serviced by the Narrogin 
campus, supporting the twelve shires of Brookton, 
Cuballing, Dumbleyung, Kondinin, Kulin, Lake Grace, 
Narrogin, Pingelly, Wagin, Wandering, West Arthur 
and Williams. Courses are also delivered through the 
thirteen Community Resource Centres within this 
region. Some achievements within the Southern 
region for 2011 include:

•	 Shear 11 program - this very successful program 
funded under the Training WA Shearing and 
Wool handling program resulted in 16,500 SCH  
of wool harvesting training being delivered 
across the Wheatbelt and Mid West regions. 

•	 Contracted fee for service delivery of the 
Australian Wool Innovations program was 
popular, with in-shed regional coaching, 
shearing and crutching schools well attended.

•	 Development of the online Certificate IV in 
Business for staff within farm machinery 
dealerships. This was successfully trialled and 
implemented, and involved considerable RPL.

•	 The IASKA international artist in residence project 
in Narrogin was a partnership between 
Community Arts Network WA, Arts Narrogin and 
the Institute. The theme of the project is reflected 
in the name - Spaced: Art out of Place - and 
resulted in the design of a large public sculpture 
located on the site of the former railway yards in 
Narrogin. 

•	 Community Services training continues to be 
popular with students readily gaining employment 
before they have completed their training. The 
Community Services lecturer, Audrey Parnell, was 
nominated for a State Training Award and for the 
Curtin University Teaching Excellence Award.

•	 In collaboration with the Department of 
Agriculture and Food, a program commenced to 
assist rural communities to meet the challenges 
associated with climate change. The program is 
designed to recognise the skills already possessed 
by workers in the agricultural supply chain.  
A coordinator was appointed to facilitate the 
project, with the first program involving farmers 
obtaining recognition of their wool classing skills. 
The project will conclude on 30 June 2012. 

Eastern

The Eastern region comprises  sixteen local 
government areas and has its main campus in 
Merredin. Training is also delivered across the region 
through established centres at Kellerberrin and 
Quairading, and through the network of Community 
Resource Centres. During 2011, relationships with the 
mining and construction industries continued to build 
and strengthen. Some achievements within the 
Eastern region for 2011 include:

•	 A major RPL project involving the Pork Industry 
was delivered from the region and this has 
articulated into a major workplace training 
program planned for 2012.

•	 Specialist staff were appointed to service the 
retail sector and to provide first aid training to  
a range of industries, providing enhanced 
opportunities for people to gain skills and 
employment.

•	 The campus worked closely with Merredin 
College to establish pathways for students into 
the Institute via the new Trade Training Centre 
and Merredin Alternative Pathways Project 
(MAPP). This resulted in a significant increase  
in trade training for school students.

•	 The Heavy Duty Automotive Apprenticeship 
Program was further consolidated and 
expanded with the lease of new premises  
in the heart of Merredin’s industrial area.

•	 Further growth in community partnerships with 
the establishment of agreements with the new 
Quairading CRC and Kellerberrin CRC for location 
of staff and delivery of programs.

•	 Industry and community advice and support 
continues to be provided by the Merredin 
Doorways Education and Training Committee  
as well as the Wheatbelt Business Network and 
local government agencies. 
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Trades

The Institute recognises the economic importance of 
trade training to the Wheatbelt region and the State 
as a whole. The Trades portfolio was established as  
a consequence, to provide stronger management 
focus on the delivery of trade training across all 
sub-regions within the Wheatbelt. Some highlights 
from 2011 include the following:

•	 Automotive - a partnership with Northam Senior 
High School resulted in face-to-face automotive 
training for a group of year twelve students.

•	 Bicycle training - the Institute is the only training 
provider in WA to offer the Certificate II in 
Bicycles. The numbers of students enrolling,  
and industry interest in this course, continues  
to increase.

•	 Fabrication - student figures in this area were 
stable with apprentices enrolled across the 
whole Wheatbelt region. A number of successful 
night classes were held.

•	 Construction - there was considerable growth in 
this area with carpentry and joinery apprentices 
spread across the region.

•	 Career change - a very successful class was held 
for people who were considering a career 
change into the trades.

•	 Civil Construction - development of the 
Certificate II in Civil Construction with access to 
capital equipment including bulldozers, graders 
and diggers. This is a growth area which enjoys 
the support of the Shire of Northam and a local 
employment agency. As well, proximate Shires 
have been very interested in employing 
graduates.

•	 Prison delivery - there was an increase in the 
number of trainees enrolled in trades areas.

•	 School delivery - students from thirteen schools 
across the Wheatbelt region were enrolled in 
bricklaying, construction and automotive 
training.

•	 High Risk Licences - forklift and elevated platform 
training continued to increase.

•	 Opening of the Industrial Farm Safety Skills 
Centre at the Avon Industrial Park - this facility 
was officially opened in July and offered a range 
of farm and industrial safety training programs.

•	 Try-a-Trade and Step-Out programs - these 
programs encourage school students to consider 
trade training and were very successful, giving a 
number of school leavers experience in the work 
associated with various trades.

Muresk

In response to strong community interest, and 
following the decision by Curtin University to relocate 
its Agribusiness programs to the Bentley campus, C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute positioned itself to  engage with 
higher education. In the latter half of 2011 the 
Institute commenced negotiations with Curtin 
University to deliver an Associate Degree in 
Agribusiness at Muresk in 2013.

For 2012 C.Y. O’Connor Institute will offer a Certificate 
IV in Agribusiness, thereby meeting some of the 
demand from the community, in particular from 
graduates of the WA Agricultural Colleges, while 
providing a pathway for graduates into the 
Associate Degree in Agribusiness for 2013.

Achievements at Muresk in 2011 include:

•	 The Centre for Agribusiness and Farm 
Technology was established. Industry 
consultation and a number of industry forums 
took place to determine the direction of 
agricultural training at the Institute.

•	 The Certificates III and IV in Agriculture were 
offered and successfully delivered.

•	 The Institute partnered with two internationally 
renowned UK veterinarians to offer a Conference 
on Equine Artificial Insemination and Embryo 
Transfer. The conference, held over six days at 
Muresk and a local horse stud, was very 
successful with attendance from across  
the country. 
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Changes To Outcome Based 
Management Framework

No changes were made to the Institute’s Outcome 
Based Management Framework in 2011.

Shared Responsibilities With Other 
Agencies

C.Y. O’Connor Institute receives its annual funding 
allocation from the State Government through a 
resource agreement (Delivery and Performance 
Agreement) with the Department of Training and 
Workforce Development. Under that agreement,  
the Institute reports, via the Governing Council,  
to the department on its outcomes.



22 | C.Y. O’Connor Institute

2011 snApsHotAGenCY peRfoRmAnCe

Overall Student Satisfaction

C.Y. O’Connor W.A. Average

93.3% 88.4%

2011 Training Delivery Indicators

Achievement of Training Delivery Profile (publicly funded delivery), counted as Student Curriculum Hours 
(SCH).

Original Planned Actual % Achieved

631,900 621,404 98.34%

Non-Profile, counted as SCH and expressed as a percentage of total Institute delivery.

Non-Profile 71,541

% of Total Institute SCH 10.32%

Notes: 
(1) Non-Profile training activity incorporates Fee for Service training, Special Projects (State/DEEWR funded), Auspicing in  
Schools and tendered industry specific programs.

Cost of Student Curriculum Hours (SCH)

This indicator measures the average cost of delivery per SCH, it includes Profile and Non-Profile activity.

Cost per SCH $27.11

Notes: 
(1) Cost per SCH is calculated using the following formula:

  

Cost Per SCH =          
 Total Cost of Services

Total SCH
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InstItute AwARD wInneRsAGenCY peRfoRmAnCe

2010 Student Graduation Awards

Luluk MacKintosh

Student of the Year -  
sponsored by Northam Boulevard

Kyra Bolton

Aboriginal Student of the Year -  
sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Grant Leeson

Regional Trades Student of the Year -  
sponsored by the CBH Group 
Shirley Nieuwport - Letter of Commendation

Lorretta Adams

Regional Business Student of the Year -  
sponsored by Directions

Stephen Paterson

Regional Primary Industries Student of the Year - 
sponsored by WA Farmers

Luluk MacKintosh

Regional Services and Lifestyle Student of the Year 
- sponsored by C.Y. O’Connor Institute Governing 
Council 
Marshall Nelson - Letter of Commendation

Ben Kirby

Apprentice of the Year -  
sponsored by Northam Toyota

Marinelle Meyntjes

Trainee of the Year -  
sponsored by the Shire of Northam

Cameron Ward

James Dawson Memorial Award -  

sponsored by Essential Personnel

2011 Staff Awards for Exceptional 
Performance

Cathy Gibson

CMIS Officer 

Joanne Bowen

Customer Service Officer

Sue Manning

Marketing Officer

Judith Forsyth

Lecturer Agriculture

Robert McCaffrey

Lecturer Art

2011 Disability Service Commission’s  
‘Count Me In’ Awards

HeARTworks Project led by Lecturer Karen Keeley was 
highly commended for the Post School/Tertiary 
Education and Training Award  

2011 Regional Achievement and 
Community Awards

James Paxman - Lecturer Community Services

Finalist in the Curtin University Teaching Excellence 
Award Category

Samantha Connor - Access and Equity Officer

Finalist in the Rinehart Family Volunteering Award 
Category

2011 Wheatbelt Training Awards -  
hosted by Directions

Dwayne Beach - Automotive Apprentice

Wheatbelt Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
Student of the Year



24 | C.Y. O’Connor Institute

2011 ACHIevementsAGenCY peRfoRmAnCe

Achievements against the Institute 
Strategic Priorities for 2011

The following examples highlight the achievements 
of the Institute against its strategic priorities.

Strategic Priority 1 Regionalisation

Provide education and training services that 
contribute to regional outcomes and support 
state development.

The Institute established four regional training 
divisions at the commencement of the year as a 
business development initiative. Regional Directors 
were appointed with responsibility for training 
delivery in their regions, including line management 
of lecturing staff. Previously the line management 
function was conducted from the Northam campus. 
This structural change elevated the status of the 
regional centres and decentralised the decision-
making relating to training delivery in the region.

Strategic Priority 2 Open Learning

Increase access to education and training 
services by providing open learning delivery 
models for regional clients and beyond.

During the year a paper setting out the definition  
of open learning from the perspective of the Institute 
was developed for publication, to inform the 
community and potential students of the services 
they could expect to receive from the Institute. 
Funding was allocated for the procurement of 
mobile IT equipment in order to expand the 
technological capability of the Institute. This resulted 
in increased flexibility in delivery, and expanded 
capacity of students to receive information 
electronically and to respond accordingly.

The Institute liaised with the Department of Regional 
Development and Lands to improve the capacity of 
the Institute to deliver its courses through the 42 
Community Resource Centres (CRCs) in the 
Wheatbelt Region, in an attempt to take advantage 
of the State’s investment in the equipment and data 
networks that support the CRCs.

Strategic Priority 3 Tertiary Education

Expand pathways to employment by 
providing learning and education outcomes 
as a dual sector institution.

In the latter half of 2011, the Institute commenced 
negotiations with Curtin University to deliver an 
Associate Degree in Agribusiness at Muresk in 2013. 

Plans were finalised for the delivery of a Certificate 
IV in Agribusiness in 2012, which will provide a 
pathway for graduates into the Associate Degree 
program. 

Work commenced in 2011 on developing formal 
written and endorsed articulation pathways for all 
higher level (certificate IV and diploma) Institute 
courses into local universities. 

The Institute is in discussion with a number of 
universities with a view to partnering with them  
to offer undergraduate programs in the future.

Strategic Priority 4 Indigenous Training

Enhance employment outcomes for 
Aboriginal people by adopting innovative  
and supportive engagement and training 
delivery strategies.

During the year, Institute staff worked with 
stakeholder groups to identify and develop  
training for Indigenous people which is innovative 
and supportive, and leads to positive employment 
outcomes. Strong demand was experienced for  
the following programs:

•	 Certificate III and IV in Education Support;

•	 Local Government Regulatory Services; and

•	 Certificate II in Civil Construction.

These programs are well respected by employers 
and industry, and graduates have enjoyed good 
employment outcomes.
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Strategic Priority 5 Demand Led

Expand the delivery of training and education 
services by adopting a ‘demand led’ business 
model.

The Institute’s organisational restructure elevated  
the status of the regional campuses by placing  
more senior officers in those locations with increased 
autonomy and responsibility. This structural change 
has enabled local decision making related to 
regional training, and greater and faster 
responsiveness to local demand. This will position  
the Institute to be more competitive in an 
increasingly contestable training market.

Strategic Priority 6 Institute Workforce 
Development

Invest in staff to reposition the institute as a 
leading regional provider of tertiary education 
through open learning. 

In 2011, 208 staff participated in a total of 126 
professional development activities. Professional 
development activities included: Whole of Institute 
Orientation; Improving Workplace Culture; 2011 
Training Forum; and Certificate IV in Training and 
Assessment upgrades.

In 2010, the Institute facilitated access to the six units 
for the Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
Framework. To date, 104 staff have successfully 
completed all six units.

The Institute is in the process of establishing a People 
Development Framework to assist with building a 
stronger culture as a learning organisation.

Strategic Priority 7 Governance

Demonstrate good governance and public 
sector improvement.

The Institute commenced self-assessment of the nine 
(9) principles of Good Governance to enhance the 
agency in achieving minimum governance 
requirements.

As part of meeting the ongoing Quality Indicator 
requirements of the Australian Quality Training 
Framework, the Institute provided the Training 
Accreditation Council with Competency 
Completion Data in July 2011. Learner Satisfaction 
and Employer Satisfaction Quality Indicator surveys 
were also conducted in 2011, with satisfaction results 
of 79.4% and 79.7% respectively.

Internal Audits were conducted by trained staff 
throughout the year in 17 areas of the Institute’s 
business and training systems as they relate to the 
Australian Quality Training Framework.  Ongoing 
maintenance of the Institute quality system policies 
procedures and forms continued with some 199 
additions and amendments occurring during 2011.

In July 2011, a project was resourced to review all 
policy, procedural and training and assessment 
documentation, to ensure the Institute’s name and 
logo’s were clearly identified where required. The 
project was also to ensure all lecturer generated 
and maintained training delivery and assessment 
documentation and materials reflect recent 
changes to delegated approval  responsibilities 
arising from the organisational restructure of the 
Institute.

Customer feedback for 2011 included a total of five 
formal complaints concerning training delivery and 
enrolment processes.

Maintenance of the Institute’s Scope of Delivery 
continued throughout the year with 15 scope 
applications lodged with TAC in 2011 for a total of  
45 qualifications. Twenty five of these qualifications 
were for the new AHC training package that 
underwent a major review. Two scope applications 
for qualifications TLILIC2005A Licence to operate a 
boom-type elevating work platform and CPP20211 
Certificate II in Security Operations involved a 
Training Accreditation Council site audit. At the end 
of 2011, the Institute maintained 211 qualifications, 
courses and units of competency on scope.

In addition to the internal quality audits, the 
following audits were conducted in 2011:

•	 Invalid Enrolment (IE) Audit;

•	 Office of the Auditor General (OAG) Annual 
Audit; and

•	 Internal Audit conducted by 2020 Global.
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CeRtIf ICAtIonkeY peRfoRmAnCe InDICAtoRs

For the year ended 31 December, 2011

We hereby certify that the Key Performance Indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess the performance of C.Y. O’Connor Institute, and fairly represent  
the performance of the Institute for the financial year ended 31 December, 2011.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012



Annual Report 2011 | 27

DesIReD outComekeY peRfoRmAnCe InDICAtoRs

The provision of vocational education and 
training services to meet community and 
industry training needs.

The Key Performance Indicators measure the 
effectiveness and efficiency of the Institute. There 
are four Effectiveness Indicators and one Efficiency 
Indicator. The indicators show the extent to which 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute has achieved vocational 
education and training services to meet community 
and industry training needs.

Targets for the five Key Performance Indicators  
were based upon the 2011 Delivery and 
Performance Agreement, the 2010 Managing 
Directors Performance Assessment, the 2010 TAFE 
Student Satisfaction Survey produced by Patterson 
Market Research, and the 2010 Student Outcomes 
Australian Vocational Education and Training 
Statistics produced by the National Centre for 
Vocational Education Research Ltd (NCVER) in 
cooperation with the Department of Education, 
Employment and Workplace Relations (DEEWR). 
Targets were presented and accepted at the 
Institute’s Performance Monitoring and Audit 
Committee Meeting in March 2011 and  
Governing Council in April 2011.
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effeCtIveness InDICAtoRskeY peRfoRmAnCe InDICAtoRs

Key Performance Indicator 1: Overall Student Satisfaction

To determine performance against Key Performance Indicator 1 (Overall Student Satisfaction), the Institute 
has used the 2011 Student Satisfaction Survey, conducted by Patterson Market Research on behalf of the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development. The data presented below is taken from survey 
question number 13: ‘Overall, how satisfied were you with your course?’ Students were required to rate their 
satisfaction on a scale of ‘Very Dissatisfied’ to ‘Very Satisfied’. The overall student satisfaction reported is a 
combination of ‘Very Satisfied’ and ‘Satisfied’ students.

1,415 students were contacted to complete the survey; 265 successfully responded. This indicates a response 
rate of 18.7% for C.Y. O’Connor Institute. The survey Confidence Interval is (+/-) 2.7% with a Standard Error of 
1.39%.

2007 Actual 2008 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Target 2011 Actual

CYOC Institute 90.2% 93.9% 95.3% 92.4% 93.0% 93.3%

Western Australia 86.8% 85.4% 85.6% 86.7% N/A 88.4%

Source: 2011 Student Satisfaction Survey - Training Provider Report - Overall Satisfaction, C.Y. O’Connor Institute, 
January 2012, conducted by Patterson Market Research on behalf of the Department of Training and Workforce 
Development.

Key Performance Indicator 2: Graduate Employment

To determine the Institute’s performance against Key Performance Indicator 2 (Graduate Employment),  
the Institute has used the 2011 Student Outcomes Survey, conducted by the National Centre for Vocational 
Education Research Ltd. (NCVER). It is a survey of students who have successfully completed vocational 
education and training (VET) in Australia, which includes graduates (students who have completed a 
qualification) and module completers (students who have completed part of a course, at least one unit of 
competency, without gaining a qualification and have left the vocational education and training system).

The data reported is graduate outcomes only. A total of 368 graduates were contacted to complete the 
survey, out of a sample population of 1,760. A total of 314 graduates successfully responded. The graduate 
response rate for C.Y. O’Connor Institute was calculated to be 45.0%. The Confidence Intervals were 
calculated as follows, with a 95% level of confidence: Employed (+/-) 4.6%; Unemployed (+/-) 2.6%; Not in  
the Labour Force (+/-) 3.9%.
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90%

100%
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The data used below comes from Chapter 1: Summary of Outcomes, Table 1a Summary of graduate 
outcomes - 2011, Employment and further study outcomes. Students completed the survey in May 2011 and 
indicated whether they were employed, unemployed or not in the labour force, after completing vocational 
education and training at C.Y. O’Connor Institute in 2010.

2007 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual(2) 2011 Target 2011 Actual

Graduates Employed

CYOC Institute 83.8% 79.3% 77.2% 80.0% 85.2%

Western Australia 83.0% 78.0% 79.0% N/A 79.7%

Australia 80.2% 77.1% 76.5% N/A 77.1%

Graduates Unemployed

CYOC Institute 4.1% 6.2% 3.7%(1) 3.5% 4.7%(1)

Western Australia 6.2% 10.1% 8.8% N/A 9.9%

Australia 9.2% 11.3% 12.4% N/A 12.0%

Graduates Not in Labour Force

CYOC Institute 11.9% 14.3% 18.9% 17.0% 9.9%

Western Australia 10.6% 11.8% 11.7% N/A 10.0%

Australia 10.2% 11.1% 10.8% N/A 10.6%

Source: 2011 Student Outcomes Survey, C.Y. O’Connor Institute, December 2011, funded by DEEWR, prepared  
for NCVER.

Notes: 
(1) The figure has a relative standard error greater than 25% and therefore should be used with caution. 

(2) In 2010 C.Y. O’Connor Institute funded the Student Outcomes Survey, which is produced biannually.
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Key Performance Indicator 3: Student Outcomes - Achievement of Main Reason for 
Studying

This Indicator also uses the 2011 Student Outcomes Survey to determine performance against the Key 
Performance Indicator. The data comes from Chapter 1: Summary of Graduate Outcomes, Satisfaction 
outcomes. The students were asked to identify whether they ‘fully or partly achieved main reason for doing 
the training’.

As stated above, a total of 368 graduates were contacted to complete the survey, out of a sample 
population of 1,760. A total of 314 graduates successfully responded. The graduate response rate for  
C.Y. O’Connor Institute was calculated to be 45.0%. The Confidence Interval for this question is (+/-) 4.3%,  
with a 95% level of confidence.

2007 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual(1) 2011 Target 2011 Actual

CYOC Institute 95.0% 92.7% 93.7% 95.0% 90.8%

Western Australia 87.0% 87.1% 86.7% N/A 87.5%

Australia 86.4% 85.9% 85.1% N/A 85.8%

Source: 2011 Student Outcomes Survey, C.Y. O’Connor Institute, December 2011, funded by DEEWR, prepared  
for NCVER.

Notes:  
(1) In 2010 C.Y. O’Connor Institute funded the Student Outcomes Survey, which is completed biannually.

Key Performance Indicator 4: Achievement of Institute Profile

The achievement of Institute Profile is a 
performance measure that demonstrates the 
Institute’s effectiveness in meeting planned 
vocational education and training services 
while addressing community and industry 
needs. The Institute Profile is identified in the 
Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 
entered into with the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development (DTWD) each 
year.

Achievement of Institute Profile compares 
planned Student Curriculum Hours (SCH) with 
achieved SCH. In 2011 the Institute and DTWD 
agreed on a Profile target of 631,900 SCH, the 
Institute achieved 98.34% of this target.
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YEAR Planned SCH Achieved SCH % Achieved

2006 546,405 496,214 90.81%

2007 500,145 504,754 100.92%

2008 562,745 542,554 96.41%

2009 561,404 561,433 100.01%

2010 569,500 552,104 96.95%

2011 631,900 621,404 98.34%

Source: Verified Institute Census Data 2012.

Industry Groups

The following table provides details of the distribution of the Institute’s Profile delivery, by Student Curriculum 
Hours, in Industry Groups specified by the Department of Training and Workforce Development.

Industry Group SCH Delivered 
2008

SCH Delivered 
2009

SCH Delivered 
2010

SCH Planned 
2011(1)

SCH Delivered 
2011

Variance

01A Recreation Sports 
and Entertainment

21,627 10,149 14,620 2,950 2,192 758

01B Visual and 
Performing Arts

22,203 25,470 30,405 31,550 33,460 -1,910

01C Design 0 0 0 0 0 0

02A Automotive 31,614 18,128 34,415 45,000 39,603 5,397

03A Building and 
Construction

17,432 51,257 51,626 60,800 62,429 -1,629

03B Surveying and 
Building

5,540 3,220 1,200 5,000 1,130 3,870

04A Community Service 
Workers

51,753 56,438 44,640 58,400 49,190 9,210

04B Education and 
Childcare

51,087 57,724 50,375 65,000 59,715 5,285

04C Health 44,195 38,821 64,560 70,000 82,660 -12,600

04D Library Workers 0 0 0 0 0 0

05A Finance Insurance 
Property Service 
Workers

1,170 0 0 0 0 0

06A Food Trades and 
Processing

0 0 0 0 0 0

07A Clothing Footwear 
and Soft Furnishings

10,790 4,130 1,790 0 0 0

07B Furniture 
Manufacture

8,922 10,527 6,885 1,900 4,086 -2,186

08A Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0

08B Printing and 
Publishing

0 0 0 0 0 0

09A Engineering and 
Drafting

0 648 1,686 2,600 3,398 -798

09B Metal and Mining 20,282 26,472 19,697 28,900 28,149 751

10A Animal Care 0 0 0 0 0 0

10B Forestry, Farming and 
Landcare

79,507 81,772 60,654 82,300 85,809 -3,509

10C Fishing 0 0 0 0 0 0

10D Horticulture 10,511 13,362 10,442 10,400 5,426 4,974
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11A Process 
Manufacturing

0 0 0 0 0 0

12A Personal Service 715 950 0 0 0 0

12B Retail 6,212 3,274 5,880 5,400 2,680 2,720

13A Cooking 1,667 488 0 1,000 326 674

13B Hospitality 1,339 1,187 2,676 2,500 1,854 646

13C Tourism 230 470 0 0 0 0

13D Travel Agents 0 0 0 0 0 0

14A Transport Trades, 
Storage and 
Associated

5,200 10,080 9,680 12,900 16,640 -3,740

15A Electrical and 
Electronic 
Engineering

0 0 0 0 0 0

15B Electrical Trades 0 0 0 0 0 0

16A Accounting and 
Other Business 
Services

2,390 6,230 6,990 7,000 5,905 1,095

16B Management 17,910 24,706 37,003 22,000 26,815 -4,815

16C Office and Clerical 69,715 64,505 54,995 60,050 68,620 -8,570

17A Computing 5,084 11,979 3,980 7,000 3,350 3,650

18A Science and 
Technical Workers

1,000 546 0 5,500 0 5,500

19A ACE 0 0 0 0 0 0

19B Adult Literacy/ESL 14,685 24,655 27,280 28,750 25,450 3,300

19C Languages 0 0 0 0 0 0

19D Miscellaneous 0 0 0 0 0 0

19E Targeted Access and 
Participation Courses

39,774 14,205 10,625 15,000 12,517 2,483

TOTAL SCH 542,554 561,433 552,104 631,900 621,404 10,496

Source: 2011 Delivery and Performance Agreement for C.Y. O’Connor Institute, Addendum Number 3, page 9  
and Verified Census Data.

Notes: 
(1) The Institute Profile target remained at 631,900 throughout the year; however the Industry Group targets changed with  
each addendum to meet the vocational education and training needs of the community and industry. The information  
used above comes from the third Addendum to the DPA for 2011.

Non-Profile Delivery

As stated above, Profile Delivery refers to the SCH 
funded through the DPA made with the Department 
of Training and Workforce Development. Non-Profile 
Delivery refers to all courses not funded through the 
DPA. To meet the full range of training required by 
community and industry, the Institute delivers a 
range of programs that are not incorporated within 
the Institute Profile. The programs provided are 
commercial fee-for-service programs; and lifestyle 
courses. Non-Profile Delivery is presented below, with 
the percentage of Non-Profile training delivered by 
the Institute in that year.Non-Profile Delivery
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2007 Actual 2008 Actual 2009 Actual 2010 Actual 2011 Target 2011 Actual

Non-Profile delivery 102,459 73,311 56,352 74,516 60,000(2) 71,541(1)

% of training delivery 16.87% 11.9% 8.7% 11.89% 8.67% 10.32%

Source: Verified College Census Data 2012.

Notes: 
(1) The final Non-Profile Figure includes SCH for Non-NTA - State Funded (Auspicing in Schools - 26,804 SCH), Fee for Service 
(Domestic and International Commercial training - 28,229), Special Projects (Tender - 16,508).

(2) The Non-Profile target of 60,000 SCH was established as part of the 2011 Institute Business Planning process. It was presented 
and endorsed by the Performance Monitoring and Audit Committee in March 2011 and Governing Council in April 2011.

Key Performance Indicator 5: Cost per Student Curriculum Hour (SCH)

Cost per SCH delivered is a performance measure that demonstrates the efficiency of the Institute in 
providing vocational education and training services to meet community and industry needs.

The Cost per SCH measure shows the overall unit cost per SCH delivered through both Profile and  
Non-Profile activities, based on the Total Cost of Services, as detailed in the 2011 Financial Statements.

The Cost per SCH delivered in 2011 was $27.11.

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Target(1) 2011

Total Cost of Services $13,016,577 $13,430,466 $14,631,132 $16,868,588 $15,725,307 $18,783,626

Total SCH Delivered 607,213 615,865 617,785 626,620 691,900 692,945(2)

Total Cost per SCH 
Delivered

$21.44 $21.81 $23.68 $26.92 $22.72 $27.11

Notes: 
(1) The 2011 Cost per SCH Target is based upon the Section 40 estimate submission to the Minister for Training and Workforce 
Development.

(2) Total SCH is derived from Achieved Profile of 621,404 SCH and Non-Profile Delivery of 71,541 SCH.

eff IC IenCY InDICAtoRkeY peRfoRmAnCe InDICAtoRs
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The significant issues and trends outlined here are relevant to both C.Y. O’Connor Institute and the vocation 
education and training sector in the Wheatbelt.

•	 The Muresk Campus will provide the Institute with significant opportunities in the vocational education 
and higher education sectors. The Institute commenced delivery of a tertiary pathway program - 
Certificate IV in Agriculture - in 2011, which will continue in 2012 pending the delivery of an Associate 
Degree in Agribusiness from 2013. Opportunities to deliver additional higher education programs are 
currently being investigated.

•	 The Institute is well-positioned to leverage off its capability in the delivery of trade training, civil 
construction training, and industrial and farm safety training should a decision be taken to establish  
a Mining Academy at Muresk.

•	 The Wheatbelt Workforce Development Plan, substantially developed in 2011 for release in 2012, will 
provide the Institute with up-to-date guidance on labour force demand in the Wheatbelt, including  
the Regional Priority Occupations List. This will assist the process of determining the deployment of  
future resources to meet anticipated demand for training services.

•	 The Institute has a significant role in developing Aboriginal people from across the Wheatbelt region  
to make them competitive for employment and economic independence. The Aboriginal Skills 
Development Plan 2011-2013 provides a framework for the Institute to undertake a range of initiatives  
to attract Aboriginal people to undertake vocational training, and support them during their training 
journey. The Civil Construction program offered at the Northam campus provides a model for  
Aboriginal engagement and success.

•	 A point of differentiation and opportunity for the Institute is the strength of culture for open learning.  
The Institute is at the forefront of State Training Providers in this area and offers a range of programs via 
online delivery. A paper has been developed during 2011 which articulates to stakeholders what the 
Institute means when it is referred to as an open learning institution. A network of ‘e-advisors’ was 
established during 2011. Thirty per cent of enrolments in programs offered by the Institute come from 
people who reside outside of the Wheatbelt.

•	 The Institute will capitalise on new business opportunities as a consequence of major enterprises/
agencies moving into the Avon region. During 2011, a major Queensland-based construction  
company announced its intention to move into the Avon Industrial Park. With a workforce of 300  
people, it is reasonable to anticipate a significant growth in training activity at the Institute’s satellite 
campus within the Industrial Park.

•	 Serco, with its projected workforce of 250, will provide additional business opportunities when the 
Yongah Hill Detention Centre is commissioned in 2012. The Certificate II in Security Operations was 
placed on scope late in the year.

•	 The development of Northam and Jurien Bay as Super Towns will provide additional demand for  
training services (and training facilities), as the populations in these two centres expand as a result  
of the economic investment by Government. The Institute has established a consultative process with  
the community of Jurien Bay, to remain abreast of the community’s expectations for training services.

sIGn If ICAnt Issues & tRenDs
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stRAteGIC pR IoR It Ies foR 2012

The 2012-2014 Strategic Plan was submitted to the 
Department of Training and Workforce Development 
on 4 November 2011 and approved by the Minister 
on 5 December 2011. The key aspects from the new 
strategic plan are shown below:

Vision

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is recognised as an 
innovative provider of education and training 
services that contribute to regional and state 
workforce development.

Mission

Our mission is to provide quality education and 
training services to enable our students in the 
Wheatbelt and beyond to achieve their potential.

Values

•	 Integrity

•	 Honesty

•	 Respect

•	 Ethical Behaviour

•	 Responsiveness

Drivers

•	 Workforce Development

•	 Open Learning

•	 Tertiary Pathways

•	 Access and Equity

•	 Demand Driven System

•	 Institute Workforce Development

•	 Governance

These Drivers have led to the development of the 
following seven Strategic Objectives:

Strategic Priorities 2012 - 2014

Strategic Objective 1

Provide vocational training services that contribute 
to regional and state workforce development 
outcomes.

Strategic Objective 2

Increase access to education and training services 
by providing open learning delivery models for 
regional clients and beyond.

Strategic Objective 3

Expand pathways to tertiary education and 
employment by providing learning and educational 
outcomes as a tertiary institution.

Strategic Objective 4 

Enhance the workforce participation rate for equity 
groups by adopting innovative and supportive 
engagement and training delivery strategies.

Strategic Objective 5

Expand the delivery of tertiary education services  
by adopting a ‘demand driven’ business model.

Strategic Objective 6

Invest in staff to position the Institute as a leading 
regional provider of tertiary education through open 
learning.

Strategic Objective 7

Demonstrating good governance and public sector 
improvement.
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State Legislation

•	 Australian Crime Commission (Western Australia) 
Act 2004

•	 Corporations (WA) Act 1990

•	 Criminal Code

•	 Disability Services Act 1993

•	 Education Service Providers (Full fee overseas 
students) Registration Act 1991

•	 Electoral Act 1907

•	 Electronic Transactions Act 2011

•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984

•	 Evidence Act 1906

•	 Fair Trading Act 2010

•	 Financial Management Act 2006

•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992

•	 Government Financial Responsibility Act 2000

•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979

•	 Interpretation Act 1984

•	 Library Board of WA Act 1951

•	 Limitation Act 2005

•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

•	 Occupiers Liability Act 1985

•	 Parliamentary Commissioner Act 1971

•	 Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972

•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003

•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994

•	 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

•	 School Education Act 1999

•	 State Records Act 2000

•	 State Superannuation Act 2000

•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991

•	 Vocational Education and Training Act 1996

•	 Workers Compensation (Common Law 
Proceedings) Act 2004

•	 Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
(Acts of Terrorism) Act 2001

•	 Workers Compensation and Injury Management 
Act 1981

Federal Legislation

•	 A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax Act) 
1999

•	 Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Act 2005

•	 Aboriginal And Torres Strait Islander Commission 
Amendment Act 2005

•	 Age Discrimination Act 2004

•	 Archives Act 1983

•	 Copyright Act 1968

•	 Copyright Amendment (Digital Agenda) Act 
2000

•	 Cybercrime Act 2001

•	 Disability Discrimination Act 1992

•	 Equal Employment Opportunity Act 1987

•	 Freedom of Information Act 1982

•	 Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986

•	 Human Rights and Equal Opportunity 
Commission Act 1986

•	 Income Tax Act 1986

•	 Indigenous Education (Targeted Assistance) Act 
2000

•	 Industrial Relations Act 1995

•	 Privacy Act 1988

•	 Racial Discrimination Act 1975

•	 Sex Discrimination Act 1984

•	 Skilling Australia’s Workforce Act 2005

•	 Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 
1992

•	 Superannuation Guarantee Charge Act 1992

•	 Trade Practices Amendment Act (No.1) 2001

•	 Workplace Relations Act 1996

leGIslAtIon ImpACtInG  

on tHe InstItuteDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe
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stAff InG oveRvIewDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

mInIsteRIAl DIReCtIvesDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

C.Y. O’Connor Institute employs staff in lecturing and non-lecturing roles including administration and 
support. The average number of full time staff is detailed below:

2010 2011

Staff 160.25 163.5

FTE 131.16 133.2

 
Professional and Career Development (PACD)

During 2011, the equivalent of 208 staff participated in a total of 126 different PACD activities. A number  
of targeted PACD activities were conducted throughout the year. These included:

•	 Whole of Institute Orientation Day;

•	 Lecturer’s Orientation Day;

•	 Improving Workplace Culture;

•	 Training Forum 2011; and

•	 Certificate IV in Training and Assessment (TAE) Upgrade.

Accountable and Ethical Decision Making Framework (AEDM)

In February 2010, the Institute facilitated access to six units for the Accountable and Ethical Decision Making 
Framework, as an online learning program to all Institute staff. In 2011, 104 staff successfully completed all 
units.

No Ministerial Directives were issued to the Institute in 2011.
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GoveRnAnCe DIsClosuResDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

Public Interest Disclosure Statement

The Public Interest Disclosure Act (2003) came into effect on 1 July 2003, requiring the Institute to:

•	 Facilitate the disclosure of public information;

•	 Provide protection for those who make disclosures; and

•	 Provide protection for those who are the subject of disclosure.

The policy details internal procedures relating to the Institute’s obligations under the Act, and the protection 
for persons who make disclosures under the Act. This Public Interest Disclosure function is delegated to the 
office of the Director, People and Performance. 

No Public Interest Disclosure requests were reported during 2011.

Contracts with Senior Officers

At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior Officers or firms  
of which Senior Officers are members, or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts with C.Y. O’Connor Institute.
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ADveRtIs InGDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, requires the Institute to report on expenditure incurred during the 
financial year in relation to advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations, direct 
mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

The total expenditure for 2011 was $85,789.72

Expenditure was incurred as follows:

Category Name of Organisation/s Amount of Expenditure

Advertising Agencies AdCorp $17,991.18

Market Research Organisations

Polling Organisations

Direct Mail Organisations

Media Advertising Organisations Media Decisions (OMD) 
Other Media Organisations

$53,216.98
$14,581.56

TOTAL: $85,789.72

Advertising and Sponsorship

The Institute was successful in securing sponsorship for some of its publications and awards. Details of this 
sponsorship are as follows:

Graduation Sponsorship

Northam Boulevard  Student of the Year

Directions   Regional Business Student of the Year

Shire of Northam  Aboriginal Student of the Year

Northam Toyota  Apprentice of the Year

Essential Personnel  James Dawson Award

CBH Group   Regional Trades Student of the Year

WA Farmers   Regional Primary Industries Student of the Year

Shire of Northam  Trainee of the Year
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VET in Schools Publication Sponsorship

•	 Aboriginal Workforce Development Centre

•	 Directions WA

•	 Department of Agriculture and Food WA

•	 Farm Machinery Dealers Association

•	 WA Regional Manufacturers Inc.

Major Publications in 2011

•	 C.Y. O’Connor Courier (Staff/Student Newsletter) 
- one per semester

•	 Course Handbook - one per semester

•	 Strategic Plan 2012-2014

•	 Aboriginal Skills Development Plan 2011-2013

•	 VET-in-Schools Handbook

•	 Course Brochures

•	 Annual Report

•	 Student Diary 2011
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DIsAbIl ItY ACCess &  

InClusIon plAn outComesDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

C.Y. O’Connor Institute is committed to providing  
an inclusive environment for people with disabilities 
through ongoing improvement to its information, 
services and facilities.

It is a requirement of the Western Australia Disability 
Services Act 1993, that public authorities develop 
and implement a Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) that outlines the ways in which the 
authority will ensure that people with disabilities 
have equal access to its facilities and services.  
In July 2010, the Institute developed the 2011-2014 
Disability Action and Inclusion Plan (DAIP). The 
following information outlines progress which  
was carried out in 2011 against the six outcome 
statements in the DAIP.

Outcome 1: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the services of, and any 
events organised by, C.Y. O’Connor Institute. 

•	 Continued to apply equal access and inclusion 
principles to services and events organised 
through measures such as development and 
implementation of Event Access Checklists.

•	 Continued to research and procure necessary 
technology and equipment to meet student 
needs.

•	 The Student Graduation ceremony was held at 
an accessible venue and included the James 
Dawson Memorial Award, an award developed 
to recognise the achievements of students with 
a disability.

•	 Continued to deliver a disability awareness 
training program to Customer Service Officers, 
lecturers and In-Class Assistants.

•	 Institute policies and procedures were reviewed 
and amended to encompass the needs of 
students with disability.

•	 Two units from the Gaining Access to Training 
and Employment course were modified to meet 
the needs of students with disability, including 
students who did not have written language skills 
and students with alternative modes of 
communication.

Outcome 2: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the buildings and other 
facilities of C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

•	 Identified issues through universal access audits 
and consultation processes and recorded them 
for action and resolution. 

•	 New signage was compliant with accessibility 
guidelines for students with a disability.

•	 Ensured that premises and other infrastructure 
related to transport were accessible to people 
with a disability.

Outcome 3: 

People with disability can access information from 
C.Y. O’Connor Institute as readily as other people are 
able to access it.

•	 Developed an accessible complaints form and 
an easy English guide to making a complaint/
providing feedback.

•	 Continued to provide information in clear, 
concise language and in alternative formats.

•	 Continued to ensure that support staff were 
available to assist students with additional 
needs.

•	 Continued to review and research appropriate 
and necessary equipment and resources to 
promote accessibility and participation such  
as audio loops and personal receivers.

•	 Developed and disseminated a Student Code of 
Conduct that was written in easy to understand 
English.

•	 Institute website redesigned to comply with 
Vision Australia’s website accessibility guidelines.

Outcome 4: 

People with disability receive the same level and 
quality of service from staff at C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
as other people receive.

•	 Continued to review teaching, learning and 
assessment strategies in all industry areas to 
ensure alignment with the principles of 
accessibility and inclusiveness.
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•	 Provided professional development and training 
in Disability Awareness for In-Class Assistants.

•	 Provided customer service and lecturer disability 
awareness training across all campuses.

•	 Ensured that contractors and agents are aware 
of their obligations and responsibilities to people 
with disability or medical conditions. 

•	 Continued to provide reasonable adjustment  
to ensure that students with disability are able  
to learn on the same level as students without 
disability.

Outcome 5: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to make complaints to C.Y. 
O’Connor Institute.

•	 Developed an accessible complaints form and 
an easy English guide to making a complaint/
providing feedback.

Outcome 6: 

People with disability have the same opportunities 
as other people to participate in any public 
consultation carried out by C.Y. O’Connor Institute.

•	 Established a DAIP Steering Committee to 
develop, implement, monitor and review the DAIP.  

•	 Continued to develop linkages and create 
pathways into the community in order to seek  
a broad range of views and invite consultation.

•	 Ensured that all public consultations met 
minimum benchmarks for accessible 
consultation processes. This included providing 
material in a variety of formats and advertising 
the consultation processes in a range of media 
such as radio, the website and the print media. 

•	 Continued to seek a broad range of views from 
the community on disability and access issues 
through a variety of strategies.

The Institute continues to commit to ensuring that all 
people within the community are able to access the 
full range of resources, services and facilities. This effort 
was recognised at the Annual ‘Count Me In’ Awards, 
sponsored by the Disability Services Commission, with 
the Institute receiving a high commendation for the 
HeARTwork project in Narrogin.

© Microsoft Corporation Clipart
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stAnDARDs & etHICsDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

C.Y. O’Connor Institute has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management  
for Recruitment, Selection and Appointment, Transfer, Secondment, Performance Management, 
Redeployment, Termination, Discipline, Temporary Deployment (Acting) and Grievance Resolution  
as well as with the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethic and the Institute’s Code of Conduct.

Procedures are in place to ensure compliance. Appropriate internal assessments have been conducted  
to meet legislative requirements. During 2011, there were no breaches against any of the Standards.

A common Record Keeping Plan has been adopted across the network of State Training Providers. This 
plan sets out strategies for uniform compliance with the State Records Act (2000). The Institute works closely 
with the other State Training Providers to review and improve record keeping processes and procedures.

During 2011, the Institute continued its focus on preparing documentation for conversion to electronic TRIM. 
A number of staff were provided with access to TRIM and received associated training. Record keeping 
and use of information were also included in the Accountable and Ethical Decision Making training that 
the Institute facilitated in 2011.

It is the Institute’s plan to provide staff with greater access to TRIM in 2012; to upgrade TRIM to version 7;  
and to implement an effective record keeping training program.

The Institute includes employee record keeping roles and responsibilities in the Induction Manual for all 
new staff. A Record Management Policy is also available for staff to further clarify their roles and 
responsibilities in record keeping. A review of the record keeping component of the Institute’s induction 
program is planned for 2012.

ReCoRD keepInG plAnDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe
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oCCupAtIonAl HeAltH,  

sAfetY & InJuRY mAnAGementDIsClosuRes & ComplIAnCe

C.Y. O’Connor Institute complies with the Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984) and the Workers 
Compensation and Injury Management Act (1981). The Institute has a comprehensive program for 
monitoring skills development in occupational safety and health, staff participation and reporting to  
ensure requirements of both Acts are met.

The Institute has a well established Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Committee. It oversees  
strategies and operational matters relating to OSH. The Committee is also the conduit for consultation  
and communication of information, and meets on a quarterly basis.

Indicator Target Actual

Number of fatalities 0 0

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) incidence rate 0 or 10 % reduction on previous year 300%

Lost time injury severity rate 0 or 10% improvement on previous year 0

Percentage of injured workers returned to 
work within 28 weeks

Actual percentage result to be reported 100%

Percentage of managers trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities

Greater than or equal to 50% 80%

Notes:  
(1) The 300% increase in LTI/D reflects three incidents occurring in 2011 compared with zero in 2010.

 

Risk Management

The Institute has successfully embedded risk management principles into the consideration of decisions 
by the Executive Team. A risk management framework has been established to ensure compliance with 
Treasury Instruction 825, consistent with Australian Standards 4360:1999. During 2011 the Institute reviewed 
and implemented a new risk management database focusing on strategic agency risks.
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CeRtIf ICAtIonf InAnCIAl stAtements

The accompanying financial statements of C.Y. O’Connor Institute have been prepared in compliance with 
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records, to present fairly 
the financial transactions for the financial year ending 31 December 2011, and the financial position as at  
31 December 2011. 

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included 
in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate.

Eileen O’Connell

Chair, Governing Council

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012

John Scott

Managing Director

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012

Neil McAullay

Chief Finance Officer

C.Y. O’Connor Institute 
20 March 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
C.Y. O'CONNOR INSTITUTE 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the C.Y. O'Connor Institute. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at  
31 December 2011, the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity 
and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Governing Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Governing Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Governing Council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Institute’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Governing Council, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the C.Y. O'Connor Institute at 31 December 2011 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

C.Y. O’CONNOR INSTITUTE 

Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the C.Y. O’Connor Institute. 

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2010, 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 

Governing Council’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Governing Council is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Governing Council 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Institute’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Governing Council, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the C.Y. O’Connor Institute at 31 December 2010 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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C.Y. O'Connor Institute 
 
 
Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the C.Y. O'Connor Institute. The Governing Council is 
responsible for ensuring that adequate control is maintained over the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public and other property, and the 
incurring of liabilities in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Governing Council based on my audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the C.Y. O'Connor Institute are sufficiently adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance 
with legislative provisions. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the C.Y. O'Connor Institute. The Governing 
Council is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions. 
 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the C.Y. O'Connor Institute are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Institute’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 31 December 2011. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and the Australian Auditing Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  

 
GLEN CLARKE 
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL 
15 March 2012 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 2011 2010
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Notes $ $
COST OF SERVICES
Expenses
Employee benefits expense 6 12,596,885     10,800,685     
Supplies and services 7 4,197,510       4,055,157       
Depreciation and amortisation expense 8 564,673          562,599          
Cost of sales 13 190,363          163,635          
Other expenses 9 1,234,194       1,286,512       
Total cost of services 18,783,626     16,868,588     

Income
Revenue
Fee for service 10 220,844          198,594          
Student fees and charges 11 931,431          918,036          
Ancillary trading 12 4,722              427                 
Sales 13 275,087          232,582          
Commonwealth grants and contributions 14 -                  347,783          
Interest revenue 15 176,059          214,726          
Other revenue 16 175,189          233,544          
Total revenue 1,783,331       2,145,693       

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 17 7,211              54,199            
Total gains 7,211              54,199            

Total income other than income from State Government 1,790,542       2,199,892       

NET COST OF SERVICES  (16,993,084)    (14,668,696)    

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 18
Service appropriation 13,602,393     12,513,380     
Resources received free of charge 445,895          174,731          
Total income from State Government 14,048,288     12,688,112     

(2,944,796)      (1,980,585)      

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Changes in asset revaluation surplus (450,639)         (459,350)         
Total other comprehensive income (450,639)         (459,350)         

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD (3,395,434)      (2,439,934)      

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

C.Y. O'Connor Institute

SURPLUS / (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD
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C.Y. O'Connor Institute
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2011 2011 2010

Notes $ $
ASSETS
Current Assets  
Cash and cash equivalents 29 1,789,826       3,748,708       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 29       -                  47,983            
Inventories 20 59,028            47,108            
Receivables 21 186,408          187,457          
Other current assets 22 93,372            79,889            
Total Current Assets 2,128,634       4,111,145       

Non-Current Assets 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 19, 29 321,374          252,640          
Property, plant and equipment 23 13,572,496     12,052,783     
Total Non-Current Assets 13,893,870     12,305,423     

TOTAL ASSETS 16,022,504     16,416,568     

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 25 584,329          391,106          
Provisions 26 2,082,903       1,835,721       
Other current liabilities 27 170,029          215,247          
Total Current Liabilities 2,837,262       2,442,074       

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 26 655,901          462,391          
Total Non-Current Liabilities 655,901          462,391          

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,493,163       2,904,465       

NET ASSETS 12,529,341     13,512,103     

EQUITY
Contributed equity 28 2,565,747       176,634          
Reserves 4,827,589       5,278,228       
Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 5,136,005       8,057,242       

TOTAL  EQUITY 12,529,341     13,512,103     

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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C.Y. O'Connor Institute
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 2011 2010

Notes $ $
CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation - Department of Training and Workforce Development 12,604,772     11,685,193     
Capital appropriation -  Department of Training and Workforce Development
Royalties for Regions Fund
Net cash provided by State Government 12,604,772     11,685,193     

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee benefits (11,041,189)    (9,540,007)      
Supplies and services (3,660,751)      (3,874,931)      
GST payments on purchases (392,731)         (486,121)         
GST payments to taxation authority 2,927              
Other payments (1,470,337)      (1,067,713)      

Receipts
Fee for service 217,750          198,594          
Student fees and charges  929,212          920,230          
Ancillary trading 4,722              427                 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 347,783          
Interest received 184,337          218,669          
GST receipts on sales 78,030            98,282            
GST receipts from taxation authority 303,791          316,686          
Other receipts 419,404          481,242          
Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities 29 (14,427,761)    (12,383,930)    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets (136,752)         (664,663)         
Receipts
Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets 21,610            137,133          
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (115,142)         (527,530)         

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  
Payments
Finance lease repayment of principal -                  -                  
Repayment of borrowings -                  -                  
Other repayments -                  -                  
Receipts
Proceeds from borrowings -                  -                  
Other proceeds -                  -                  
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities -                  -                  

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (1,938,131)      (1,226,267)      

Cash and cash equivalents at begining of period 4,049,331       5,275,598       
   
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF PERIOD 29 2,111,199       4,049,331       

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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For year  

enDeD 31 December 2011noteS to the Financial StatementS

Notes 1 to 5 C.Y. O’Connor Institute December 2011 

C.Y. O’Connor Institute  
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011 

  

1. Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards 

(a) General  

The Institute's financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' refers 
to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 
 
The Institute has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their 
operative dates. 
 

(b) Early adoption of standards 

The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard earlier than the commencement 
date unless specifically permitted by Treasurer's Instruction (TI) 1101 'Application of Australian 
Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. There has been no early adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended but not operative by the Institute for the 
annual reporting period ended 31 December 2011. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of these financial statements. 
Unless otherwise stated, these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year. 
 

(a) General statement  

The financial statements constitute general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in 
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions. Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording. 
 
The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over the Australian Accounting 
Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB. 
 
Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported 
results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements. 
 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention, except for land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value. 
 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars ($).  
 
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements  
that have been made in the process of applying the Institute’s accounting policies resulting in the most 
significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
 
Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future, 
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next financial year. 
 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Institute. There are no other related bodies. 
 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ 
requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of 
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administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions  by 
owners (at the time of, or prior to, transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity 
contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 
'Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities' and have been credited 
directly to Contributed Equity. 
 
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal. See note 28 'Equity'. 
 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
 
The majority of operating revenue of the Institute represents revenue earned from student fees and 
charges, fee for service, ancillary services, trading activities and Commonwealth grants and 
contributions. 
 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 
 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 
 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. The effective interest method which is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset is used where applicable. 
 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Institute obtains over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received. 
 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and 
the services would be purchased if not donated. 
 

State funds 

The funds received from the Department of Training and Workforce Development in respect of the 
delivery of services forming part of the Delivery Performance Agreement are included in State funds, 
disclosed under ‘Income from State Government'. They are the result of training successfully tendered 
for under competitive tendering arrangements. This revenue is recognised at nominal value in the 
period in which the Institute meets the terms of the Agreement. See note 18 'Income from State 
Government'. 
 

Gains 

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 
 

(f) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 

Capitalisation/Expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as 
assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Where 
applicable in accordance with TI 1101, the capitalisation threshold has been applied to the aggregate 
value of a group or network of assets where the cost of individual item may be below the threshold but 
collectively the cost of the items in the group or network exceeds the threshold. Items of property, 
plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of similar items 
which are significant in total). 
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Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure are initially recognised at cost. 
 
For items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, 
the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 
 

Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of 
land, buildings and infrastructure and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land, 
buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation (buildings and 
infrastructure only) and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 
 
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the 
basis of current market buying values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are re-valued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated depreciation is 
eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the re-
valued amount. 
 
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of existing use.  This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted. 
Fair value for existing use assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair 
value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the accumulated 
depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is 
restated to the re-valued amount. 
 
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the 
existing use basis to assets and in determining estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets 
and existing use assets. Refer to note 23 'Property, plant and equipment' for further information on 
revaluations. 
 

De-recognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any 
revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 
 

Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in note 23 ‘Property, plant and equipment’. 
 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 
 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 
 
Buildings     40 years 
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers  4 to 23 years 
Plant, furniture and general equipment  4 to 28 years 
Computing, communications and software (a)  1 to 15 years 
Marine craft     6 to 8 years 
 
Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 
 
Works of art controlled by the Institute are classified as property, plant and equipment. These are 
anticipated to have indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in many material senses, 
been consumed during the reporting period and so no depreciation has been recognised. 
 
Land is not depreciated. 
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(g) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is 
recognised. As the Institute is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated 
replacement cost. 
 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life. 
 
Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 
depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of assets' future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested 
for impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment. 
 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets 
carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to 
market-based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets at 
cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  
 
See note 24 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.  See note 2(m) 
'Receivables' and note 21 'Receivables' for impairment of receivables. 
 

(h) Leases 

The Institute has entered into operating lease arrangements for building premises and motor vehicles. 
Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased building premises and motor vehicles. 
 

(i) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Institute has two categories of financial instruments: 
 Receivables; and 
 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

 
These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 
 

Financial assets 

 cash and cash equivalents (including restricted cash and cash equivalents) 
 receivables 

Financial liabilities 

 payables 
 
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to 
the transaction cost or face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. 
 
The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material. 
 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents include restricted cash 
and cash equivalents. These are comprised of cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and which 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 
 

(k) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (see Note 25 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of 
the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide with the 
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end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The 
Institute considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. 
 
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 19 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) consists 
of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of ten financial years to largely meet 
the additional cash outlay in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26.No 
interest is received on this account. 
 

(l) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned by the 
method most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being measured on a 
first in first out basis. 
 
Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer required, in which case 
they are measured at net realisable value. 
 
See note 20 'Inventories'. 
 

(m) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any 
uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing 
basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are written off against the allowance account. 
The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the Institute will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as 
it is due for settlement within 30 days. See note 2(i) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 21 ‘Receivables’. 
 
An allowance for impairment of receivables can only be raised if there is objective evidence of 
impairment. 
 

(n) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Institute becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a 
purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is 
generally within 30 days.  See note 2(i) ‘Financial instruments’ and note 25 'Payables'. 
 

(o) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past event and when the outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See note 26 ‘Provisions’. 
 

(i) Provisions - employee benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end 
of the reporting period. 
 

Annual leave 

The liability for annual leave expected to be settled within twelve months after end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled. 
 
Annual leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
 
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Institute does not have an 
unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 
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Long service leave 

A liability for long service leave is recognised after an employee has completed four years of service 
based on remuneration rates current as at the end of the reporting period. An actuarial assessment of 
long service leave undertaken by PWC Actuaries at 31 December 2010 determined that the liability 
measured using the short hand measurement technique above was not materially different from the 
liability determined using the present value of expected future payments. This calculation is consistent 
with the Institute’s experience of employee retention and leave taken. 
 
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Institute does not 
have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Institute has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability 
until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 
 

Deferred Leave 

The provision for deferred leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional twelve months leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside for employees to be used in the fifth year. This 
liability is measured on the same basis as annual leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current 
provision as employees can leave the scheme at their discretion at any time. 
 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) administers public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 
 
Eligible employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now 
closed to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined 
benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members since 1995. 
 
The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution plan for Institute purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the Institute to GESB extinguishes the Institute’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability. 
 
The Institute has no liabilities under the Pension schemes or the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded 
Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred 
from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS obligations are funded by 
concurrent contributions made by the Institute to the GESB. 
 
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of 
the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Institute 
makes concurrent contributions to GESB on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  These 
contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the WSS and GESBS. 
 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer's share. See also note 2(p) 'Superannuation expense'. 
 

(ii) Provisions - other 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment, to which they relate, has 
occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of 'Other expenses' and are not included as part 
of the Institute's 'Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 'Employment on-costs 
provision'. (See note 9 'Other expenses' and note 26 ‘Provisions’.) 
 

(p) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the West State Superannuation Scheme 
(WSS), and the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  
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(q) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised 
as income at fair value. Where the resource received represents a service that the authority would 
otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. Receipts of assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under 
Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

(r) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented 
in the current financial year. 
 

3. Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. The Institute evaluates these judgements regularly. 
 
Operating Lease Commitments 
The Institute has entered into a commercial lease and has determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the property. Accordingly, 
the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 
 

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions in calculating the Institute’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. 
Changes in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long 
service leave provision. 
 

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 
The Institute has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 that impacted on the Institute. 
 
AASB 2009-12 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 
133, 137, 139, 1023 & 1031 and Interpretations 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052]  
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. There is no financial impact. 
 
AASB 2010-4 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvement Projects [AASB 1, AASB 7, AASB 101 & AASB 134 and Interpretation 13] 
The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial instruments in relation to credit risk. The carrying amount 
of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have been renegotiated 
is no longer required to be disclosed. There is no financial impact. 
The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the presentation of the statement of changes in equity. The 
disaggregation of other comprehensive income reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and 
the end of the period for each component of equity is no longer required. There is no financial impact. 
 
AASB 2010-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 
119, 121, 132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042] 
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations. There is no financial impact. 

Voluntary changes in accounting policy 
The Institute has not made any voluntary changes in accounting policy that has an effect in the 
current reporting period, or any prior period, or would have an effect on that period except that it is 
impracticable to determine the amount of the adjustment, or might have an effect on future periods. 
 

 



60 | C.Y. O’Connor InstituteNotes 1 to 5 C.Y. O’Connor Institute December 2011 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative  
The Institute cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 
1101 'Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements'. Consequently, the 
Institute has not applied early the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
and which may impact the Institute but are not yet effective. Where applicable, the Institute plans to 
apply these Australian Accounting Standards from their application date: 
   

Notes 1 to 5 C.Y. O’Connor Institute December 2011 

 
Title 

Operative for 
reporting period 
beginning on / 

after 

AASB 9 
Financial Instruments 
 
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was reissued in Dec 2010. Treasury has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 13 
Fair Value Measurement 

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair 
value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. There is no 
financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 119 
Employee Benefits 
 
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 Employee Benefits, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in Sep 2011. Treasury has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements. 

The Standard does not have any financial impact on the Institute.  However it 
may affect disclosures in the financial statements of the Institute if the 
reduced disclosure requirements apply.  Treasury has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the new Standard for agencies 

1 July 2013 

AASB 1054 
Australian Additional Disclosures 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, 
removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates 
them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and 
New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2011 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12]. 

This Standard is superseded by AASB 2010-7. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7,8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 
112, 116, 117, 119, 121,123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 
140, 141,1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting 
Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure 
requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain types of 
entities. 

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the Institute. 
However this Standard may reduce some note disclosures in the financial 
statements of the Institute.  Treasury has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2010-6 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers 
of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] 

The amendments to AASB 7 introduce additional disclosure relating to 
transfers of financial assets. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2011 

AASB 2010-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137,139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 
& 127] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in Dec 2010. Treasury has 

1 Jan 2013 
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not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard for 
agencies. 

AASB 2011-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-
Tasman Convergence Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 
134 and Interpretations 2, 112 & 113] 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, removes disclosure 
requirements from other Standards and incorporates them in a single 
Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand 
Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2011 

AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-
Tasman Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure Requirements 
[AASB 101 & 1054] 

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and 
incorporates them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between 
Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting.  Treasury has not yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2011-8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 13 
[AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 
119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 
& 1038 and Interpretations 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] 

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
AASB 13 in Sep 2011. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-9 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items of 
Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 
134, 1039 &1049] 

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they are potentially re-classifiable to profit or 
loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). Treasury has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard for 
agencies. 

1 Jul 2012 

AASB 2011-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and 
Interpretation 14] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 Employee Benefits in Sep 
2011. Treasury has not yet determined the application or the potential impact 
of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2011-11 
Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements 

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (Sep 2011). Treasury has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard for 
agencies. 

1 Jul 2013 

 

Changes in Accounting Estimates 
 

Disclosure of the nature and amount of a change in an accounting estimate that has an effect in the 
current period or is expected to have an effect in future periods is required, except when it is 
impracticable to estimate that effect on future periods. 
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Title 

Operative for 
reporting period 
beginning on / 

after 

AASB 9 
Financial Instruments 
 
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was reissued in Dec 2010. Treasury has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 13 
Fair Value Measurement 

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair 
value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. There is no 
financial impact. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 119 
Employee Benefits 
 
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 Employee Benefits, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in Sep 2011. Treasury has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard for agencies. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 

This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework 
consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements. 

The Standard does not have any financial impact on the Institute.  However it 
may affect disclosures in the financial statements of the Institute if the 
reduced disclosure requirements apply.  Treasury has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the new Standard for agencies 

1 July 2013 

AASB 1054 
Australian Additional Disclosures 

This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, 
removes disclosure requirements from other Standards and incorporates 
them in a single Standard to achieve convergence between Australian and 
New Zealand Accounting Standards. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2011 

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 
1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 10 & 12]. 

This Standard is superseded by AASB 2010-7. 

1 Jan 2013 

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7,8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 
112, 116, 117, 119, 121,123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 
140, 141,1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] 

This Standard makes amendments to many Australian Accounting 
Standards, including Interpretations, to introduce reduced disclosure 
requirements into these pronouncements for application by certain types of 
entities. 

The Standard is not expected to have any financial impact on the Institute. 
However this Standard may reduce some note disclosures in the financial 
statements of the Institute.  Treasury has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the amendments to these Standards for agencies. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2010-6 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures on Transfers 
of Financial Assets [AASB 1 & AASB 7] 

The amendments to AASB 7 introduce additional disclosure relating to 
transfers of financial assets. There is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2011 

AASB 2010-7 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101,102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137,139, 1023 & 1038 and Interpretations 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 
& 127] 

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in Dec 2010. Treasury has 

1 Jan 2013 
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2011 2010
$ $

6 Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a) 11,599,265     9,985,346       
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 997,621          815,340          

12,596,885     10,800,685     

Employment on-costs liability is included at note 26 'Provisions'.

7 Supplies and services
Consumables and minor equipment 1,001,523       1,099,019       
Communication expenses 204,098          147,967          
Utilities expenses 185,102          162,186          
Consultancies and contracted services 1,325,762       1,019,251       
Minor works 78,054            426,256          
Repairs and maintenance 273,551          371,843          
Operating lease and hire charges 528,090          328,812          
Travel and passenger transport 228,571          159,772          
Advertising and public relations 208,538          166,364          
Supplies and services - other 164,221          173,686          

4,197,510       4,055,157       

8 Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Buildings 298,804          283,250          
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 119,955          134,788          
Plant, furniture and general equipment 96,149            125,096          
Computers and communication network 46,114            15,813            
Marine craft 3,652              3,652              
Total depreciation 564,673          562,599          
Total depreciation and amortisation 564,673          562,599          

9 Other expenses
Doubtful debts (written back) / expense (6,270)            4,421              
Employment on-costs (a) 835,234          957,805          
Donations 3,000              5,073              
Student prizes and awards 3,381              3,093              
Losses and write-offs 5,546              8,167              
Estimated Refund of DPA to Department of Training and Workforce Development 361,959          194,777          
Other (b) 31,345            113,176          

1,234,194       1,286,512       

(b)  Includes external audit fees plus miscellaneous expenditures.

10 Fee for service
Fee for service - general 203,138          178,813          
Fee for service - Department of Training and Workforce Development -                 65                   
Fee for service - Government (other than Department of Training and Workforce Development) 17,707            19,716            

220,844          198,594          

11 Student fees and charges
Tuition fees 595,733          535,677          
Enrolment fees (45,777)          5,450              
Resource fees 379,355          375,776          
Other college fees 2,119              1,132              

931,431          918,036          

12 Ancillary trading
Other ancillary revenue 4,722              427                 

4,722              427                 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included in note 26 'Provisions'.

Superannuation contributions as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment 
on-costs

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs expenses, such as workers' compensation insurance, are included at note 9 'Other expenses'. 

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, and Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contribution paid).
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13 Trading profit / (loss)

(a) Bookshop:                                
Sales 188,361          150,125          
  Cost of sales:
  Opening inventory (47,108)          (42,306)          
  Purchases (161,705)        (130,493)        

(208,813)        (172,799)        
  Closing inventory                                                  59,028            47,108            
Cost of goods sold (149,785)        (125,691)        
Trading profit / (loss) - Bookshop                                                                 38,575            24,434            

(b) Cafeteria (non-training related)
Sales 59,566            55,343            
  Cost of sales:
  Opening inventory -                 -                 
  Purchases (40,578)          (37,944)          

(40,578)          (37,944)          
  Closing inventory -                 -                 
Cost of goods sold (40,578)          (37,944)          
Trading profit / (loss) - Cafeteria 18,988            17,399            

(c) Other trading
Sales 27,160            27,114            
Trading profit / (loss) - Other trading 27,160            27,114            

84,723            68,947            
See note 2(l) 'Inventories' and note 20 'Inventories'.

14 Commonwealth grants and contributions
Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions -                 347,783          

-                 347,783          
These grants include Better TAFE Facilities funding - part of the Teaching and Learning Capital Fund.

15 Interest revenue
Interest revenue from operating account 176,059          214,726          

176,059          214,726          

16 Other revenue
Rental and facilities fees 68,765            56,004            
Sponsorship and donations revenue 3,273              9,545              
Miscellaneous revenue 103,152          167,994          

175,189          233,544          

17 Net gain / (loss) on disposal of non-current assets

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 21,335            136,633          
Plant, furniture and general equipment 275                 500                 
Total proceeds from disposal of non-current assets 21,610            137,133          

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers (6,262)            (82,934)          
Plant, furniture and general equipment (8,137)            -                 
Total cost of disposal of non-current assets (14,399)          (82,934)          

Net gain / (loss) 7,211              54,199            

See note 23 ‘Property, plant and equipment’.

18 Income from State Government

Appropriation received during the year

Delivery and Performance Agreement (DPA) 12,342,843     11,113,946     
Other recurrent funds 261,930          571,247          
Total State funds 12,604,772     11,685,193     

Superannuation  (b) 997,621          828,187          
Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 997,621          828,187          

The following assets have been assumed from/(transferred to) other State Government agencies during the

Total assets assumed / (transferred) -                 -                 

Service appropriation  (a) (State funds received from Department of Training and Workforce Development):

The following liabilities have been assumed by the Treasurer during the financial year:

financial year  (c):

C.Y. O'Connor Institute
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 11GLACT 10GLACT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011 2010
$ $
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Department of Training and Workforce Development
- Corporate systems support 445,895          170,969          
- Human resources, and industrial relations support -                 3,762              

445,895          174,731          
Total resources received free of charge 445,895           174,731          

Total income from State Government 14,048,288     12,688,112     

19 Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Specific capital equipment and minor works (a)
Specific donations (b)

(a) Unexpended Better TAFE Facilities Grant Funding -                 47,983            
(b) Future commitments to the 27th pay in 2015 321,374          252,640          

321,374          300,623          

20 Inventories

Inventories held for resale:
Bookshop (at cost) 59,028            47,108            

Total 59,028            47,108            

See also not 2(l) 'Inventories' and note 13 'Trading profit / (loss)'.

21 Receivables

Current
Receivables - trade 170,194          134,940          
Receivables - students 2,356              4,473              
Accrued income -                 17,890            
Allowance for impairment of receivables (3,951)            (10,221)          
GST receivable 17,809            40,375            

186,408          187,457          
Total current 186,408          187,457          

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:
Balance at start of year (10,221)          (5,800)            
Doubtful debts written back / (expense) recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 6,270              (4,421)            
Balance at end of year (3,951)            (10,221)          

See also note 2(m) 'Receivables' and note 34 'Financial instruments'. 

22 Other assets

Current
Prepayments 83,761            79,889            
Other current assets (a) 9,611              -                 
Total current 93,372            79,889            

(a) Interest Income accrual

23 Property, plant and equipment

Land
At fair value (a) 398,800          398,800          

398,800          398,800          
Buildings
At fair value (a) 12,410,000     10,700,000     

12,410,000     10,700,000     

The Institute does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

(c)  Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are reported as assets assumed / (transferred) 
under Income from State Government. Non discretionary non reciprocal transfers of net assets (i.e. restructuring of 
administrative arrangements) designated as Contributions by Owners (CBOs) under TI 955 and are taken directly to 
equity.

(d)  Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as revenue at fair value of the assets 
and / or services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased if they were not donated. 
Contribution of assets or services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity.

(a)  Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue comprises a cash component 
and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any 
agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)  In 2008, the reporting of the notional superannuation expense and equivalent notional income has been discontinued. 
Where the Treasurer or other entity has assumed a liability, the Institute recognises revenues equivalent to the amount of 
the liability assumed and an expense relating to the nature of the event or events that initially gave rise to the liability.

Resources received free of charge determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies (d):
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12,410,000     10,700,000     
Motor vehicles, caravans and trailers 
At cost 665,595          707,131          
Accumulated depreciation (340,230)        (266,455)        

325,365          440,677          
Plant,  furniture and general equipment
At cost 1,208,464       1,170,752       
Accumulated depreciation (910,674)        (831,469)        

297,790          339,283          
Computer equipment, communication network
At cost 227,264          210,980          
Accumulated depreciation (106,754)        (60,640)          

120,510          150,340          
Marine craft
At cost 36,522            36,522            
Accumulated depreciation (16,490)          (12,838)          

20,032            23,684            

13,572,496     12,052,783     

Land Buildings

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and trailers 

 Plant,  
furniture and 

general 
equipment 

 Computer 
equipment, 
communica

tion 
network Marine craft Total

2011 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 398,800    10,700,000     440,677      339,283      150,340    23,684          12,052,783     
Additions 2,459,443       10,905        62,793        16,284      2,549,424       
Disposals (6,262)         (8,137)         (14,399)          
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (450,639)        (450,639)        
Depreciation expense (298,804)        (119,955)     (96,149)       (46,114)     (3,652)          (564,673)        
Carrying amount at end of year 398,800    12,410,000     325,365      297,790      120,510    20,032          13,572,496     

Land Buildings

Motor 
vehicles, 
caravans 

and trailers 

 Plant,  
furniture and 

general 
equipment 

 Computer 
equipment, 
communica

tion 
network Marine craft Total

2010 $ $ $ $ $ $ $
Carrying amount at start of year 511,400    11,330,000     246,113      368,540      9,614        27,336          12,493,003     
Additions -            -                 412,286      95,839        156,539    -               664,663          
Disposals -            -                 (82,934)       -              -            -               (82,934)          
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (112,600)   (346,750)        -              -              -            -               (459,350)        
Depreciation expense -            (283,250)        (134,788)     (125,096)     (15,813)     (3,652)          (562,599)        
Carrying amount at end of year 398,800    10,700,000     440,677      339,283      150,340    23,684          12,052,783     

24 Impairment of assets

25 Payables

Current 
Trade payables 6,446              3,326              
Accrued expenses 242,825          128,048          
Accrued salaries and related costs 335,058          259,732          
Total current 584,329          391,106          

See also note 2(n) 'Payables' and note 34  'Financial Instruments'.

 Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period 
are set out below. 

(a) Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset measured at cost is written down to 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Where an asset 
measured at fair value is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is accounted for as a revaluation decrement.

(a) Freehold land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2011 by the Western Australian Land Information Authority 
(Valuation Services). The valuations were performed during the year ended 31 December 2011 and recognised at 31 
December 2011. The fair value of all land and buildings was determined by reference to market values. See note 2(f) 
'Property, plant and equipment'.

There were no indications of impairment to property plant, equipment and intangibles as at 31 December 2011.

The Institute held no goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite useful lifes during the reporting period and at the end of 
the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

All surplus assets as at 31 December 2011 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.
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26 Provisions

Current
Employee benefits provision
  Annual leave (a) 628,202          453,477          
  Long service leave (b) 1,131,587       1,103,090       

1,759,790       1,556,567       

Other provisions
  Employment on-costs (c) 323,114          279,154          

323,114          279,154          
Total current 2,082,903       1,835,721       

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
  Long service leave (b) 568,117          402,266          

568,117          402,266          

Other provisions
  Employment on-costs (c) 87,784            60,125            

87,784            60,125            
Total non-current 655,901          462,391          

Within 12 months of  the end of the reporting period 94,230            312,899          
More than 12 months after  the end of the reporting period 533,972          140,578          

628,202          453,477          

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 169,738          605,953          
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 1,529,966       899,402          

1,699,705       1,505,355       

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 339,279          217,698          
Additional provisions recognised 71,619            121,581          
Carrying amount at end of year 410,898          339,279          

27 Other liabilities

Current 
Income received in advance (a) 53,804            20,470            
Grants and advances - Department of Training and Workforce Development 116,225          194,777          
Total current liabilities 170,029          215,247          

(a) Income received in advance comprises:
Fee for service (125)               4,496              
Other - from Department of Justice 53,929            15,974            

53,804            20,470            
28 Equity

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year 176,634          176,634          

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation (a)
Transfer of net assets from other agencies (b) 2,389,113       -                 
Total contributions by owners 2,389,113       -                 

Distributions to owners  (c)
Transfer of net assets to other agencies
Net assets transferred to Government 
Total distributions to owners -                 -                 

Balance at end of year 2,565,747       176,634          

Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Institute.  The Government holds the equity interest in the 
net assets of the Institute. The Government holds the equity interest in the Institute on behalf of the community. The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities 
will occur as follows:

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers' compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 9 'Other expenses'.

The corresponding amount in 2010 has been re-stated to exclude on-costs.

The corresponding amount in 2010 has been re-stated to exclude on-costs.
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Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of year 5,278,228       5,737,578       
Net revaluation increments / (decrements):
Land -                 (112,600)        
Buildings (450,639)        (346,750)        
Balance at end of year 4,827,589       5,278,228       

4,827,589       5,278,228       

Accumulated surplus / (deficit) 
Balance at start of year 8,057,242       10,037,826     
Result for the period (2,944,796)     (1,980,584)     
Other adjustments 23,559            -                 
Balance at end of year 5,136,005       8,057,242       

29 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash

Cash on hand 4,900              5,900              
Cash at bank 1,784,926       3,742,808       

1,789,826       3,748,708       

321,374          300,623          
2,111,200       4,049,331       

Net cost of services (16,993,084)   (14,668,696)   

564,673          562,599          
(6,270)            4,421              

997,621          828,187          
445,895          174,731          

(7,211)            (54,199)          

5,510              6,276              
33,475            33,959            

(Increase) / decrease in assets:
(38,647)          24,004            
(11,920)          (5,521)            

4,407              5,495              

193,224          61,522            
247,182          438,907          
(45,218)          192,026          
193,510          88,475            

(10,909)          (76,326)          
-                 210                 

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities (14,427,761)   (12,383,930)   

Non-cash items:

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities

(a) Treasurer’s instruction TI 955 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ designates 
Capital Appropriations as contributions by owners in accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 'Contributions by Owners 
Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities' .

(b).AASB 1004 ‘Contributions’ , requires transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements 
to be accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners. Where activities are transferred from one 
agency to another as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, AASB 1004 (paragraph 57)  requires the 
transferee agency to disclose the expenses and income attributable to the transferred activities for the reporting period, 
showing separately those expenses and income recognised by the transferor agency during the reporting period. 
Furthermore, AASB 1004 (paragraph 58)  requires disclosures by class for each material transfer of assets and liabilities 
in relation to a restructure of administrative arrangements, together with the name of the counterparty transferor/transferee 
agency. In respect of transfers that are individually immaterial, the assets and liabilities are to be disclosed on an 
aggregate basis.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 19 'Restricted cash and cash equivalents')

TI 955 designates non-discretionary and non-reciprocal reansfers of net assets between state government agencies as 
contributions by owners in accordance AASB Interpretation 1038 , where the transferee agency accounts for a non-
discretionary and non-reciprocal transfer of net assets as a contribution by owners and the transferor agency accounts for 
the transfer as a distribution to owners.

(c) TI 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to Government to be accounted for as distribution to owners in 
accordance with AASB Interpretation 1038 .

Cash at the end of the financial year, as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Net (gain) / loss on sale of property, plant  and equipment (note 17 ‘Net gain / (loss) on sale of non-current assets’)

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Other non-current liabilities

Net GST receipts / (payments) (a)
Change in GST in receivables / payables (b)

Other current assets

Current payables (c)
Current provisions
Other current liabilities
Non-current provisions

Losses and write-offs (excludes cash shortages / thefts of money) (note 9 ‘Other expenses’)
Fringe Benefits Tax Offset Against GST

Current receivables (c)
Current inventories

Doubtful debts (written-back) / expense (note 9 ‘Other expenses’)
Superannuation expense
Resources received free of charge (note 18 ‘Income from State Government’) 

Depreciation and amortisation expense (note 8 'Depreciation and amortisation expense)
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Non-cash financing and investing activities

30 Commitments

Lease commitments

Within 1 year 270,057          221,444          
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 355,493          218,767          

625,551          440,211          
Representing:
Cancellable operating leases 625,551          7,321              
Non-cancellable operating leases -                 432,891          

625,551          440,211          

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments

Within 1 year -                 214,124          
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years -                 218,767          

-                 432,891          

31 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contaminated sites

32 Events occurring after the reporting period

33 Explanatory statement

Significant variances between estimated and actual result for the financial year 2011
2011 2011

Estimate Actual
$ $ $ %

Expense
Employee benefits expenses 9,503,636       12,596,885   3,093,249       33%
Supplies and services 3,064,544       4,197,510     1,132,966       37%
Depreciation and amortisation expense 620,187          564,673        (55,514)          -9%
Cost of sales 126,827          190,363        63,537            50%
Other expenses 870,031          1,234,194     364,163          42%

Income
Fee for service 542,852          220,844        (322,008)        -59%
Interest revenue 195,041          176,059        (18,983)          -10%
Other revenue 240,259          175,189        (65,070)          -27%

Employee expenses

Supplies and services

(c) Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable / payable in respect of GST and the receivable / payable in 
respect of the sale / purchase of non-current assets are not included as they are not reconciling items.

(a) This is the net GST paid / received, i.e. cash transactions
(b) This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables

The Institute's Council is not aware of any other matters or circumstances that have arisen since the end of the financial 
year to the date of this report which have significantly affected or may significantly affect the activities of the Institute, the 
results of those activities or the state of affairs of the Institute in the ensuing or any subsequent years.

Variance

There were no material non-cash financing or investment activities undertaken with external parties during the financial 
year. 

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

The Institute's Council is not aware of any contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at balance date.

The Institute's Council is not aware of any contaminated sites on any of the properties under its control as at balance date.

The Institute during 2011 significantly grew its profile training delivery from 552,104 (2010) to 621,404 (2011) which 
resulted in an increase in staffing numbers (primarily lectuers) and associated salaries increases. Further the Institute 
made strategic management decisions to review the Products & Services Catalogue; undertake improvements to AQTF 
documentation and the development of tertiary pathways which resulted in additional salaries being expended.

The growth in SCH resulted in an increase in consumable expenditure. Further, the Institute made strategic management 
decisions to re-invest funds into set up of the Avon Industrial Park for delivery purposes, development of tertiary pathways 
and significant purchases of tools and equipments to support new and existing delivery areas.

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003 , the  is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the 
Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis 
of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are classified as contaminated - 
remediation required or possibly contaminated - investigation required, the Institute may have a liability in respect of 
investigation or remediation expenses.

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense are shown below.  Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $50,000.
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Depreciation
Lower depreciation is due to capitalisation of new workshop later than expected.
Cost of sales
The Institute under-estimated the costs of bookshop sales.
Interest revenue
Lower interest revenue is a result of lower cash balance than expected.
Other expenses

Fee for service

Other revenue

2011 2010
$ $ $ %

Income 
Interest revenue 176,059          214,726        (38,668)          -18%
Sales 275,087          232,582        42,504            18%
Commonwealth grants and contributions -                 347,783        (347,783)        -100%
Interest revenue 176,059          214,726        (38,668)          -18%
Other revenue 175,189          233,544        (58,355)          -25%

Expense
Employee benefits expense 12,596,885     10,800,685   1,796,200       17%
Supplies and services 4,197,510       4,055,157     142,353          4%
Cost of sales 190,363          163,635        26,728            16%

Interest revenue
Lower interest revenue is a result of lower cash balance than expected.
Sales
The growth in SCH resulted in higher bookshop sales.
Commonwealth grants and contributions

Interest revenue
Lower interest revenue is a result of lower cash balance than expected.
Other revenue

Employee expenses

Supplies and services

Cost of sales

The growth in SCH resulted in increase in higher bookshop costs of sales.

34 Financial instruments

Credit risk

At the end of the reporting period there are no significant concentrations of credit risk.

There was workers' compensation rebate in 2010, but no corresponding amount received in 2011.

The Institute during 2011 significantly grew its profile training delivery from 552,104 (2010) to 621,404 (2011) which 
resulted in an increase in staffing numbers (primarily lectuers) and associated salaries increases. Further the Institute 
made strategic management decisions to review the Products & Services Catalogue; undertake improvements to AQTF 
documentation and the development of tertiary pathways which resulted in additional salaries being expended.

The growth in SCH resulted in an increase in consumable expenditure. Further, the Institute made strategic management 
decisions to re-invest funds into set up of the Avon Industrial Park for delivery purposes, development of tertiary pathways 
and significant purchases of tools and equipments to support new and existing delivery areas.

The Institute over-estimated the capacity to acquire fee-for-service revenue.

The Institute over-estimated the capacity to generate other revenue.

Variance

Financial instruments held by the Institute are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans, 
finance leases, borrowings and receivables and payables. The Institute has limited exposure to financial risks. The 
Institute's overall risk management program focus on managing the risk identified below.

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Institute’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Institute.

Credit risk associated with the Institute’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amounts 
receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other than government, the Institute trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. The Institute has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are 
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis 
with the result that the Institute's exposure to bad debt is minimal.

Significant variances between actual 2011 and prior year actual 2010

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Institute was required to refund a total of $440,511 (of which $194,777 was provided for in 2010) to the Department of 
Training and Workforce Development for not achieving profile delivery target and for breaching delivery at Acacia Prison. 
In addition, an estimated $116,225 refundable to the Department of Training and Workforce Development was provided in 
2011.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets 
is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 34(c) 
'Financial instruments disclosures' and note 21 'Receivables'.

The 2010 amount related to Better TAFE Facilities funding. No corresponding funding was received in 2011.
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Liquidity risk

Market risk 

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2011 2010
$ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 1,789,826       3,748,708       
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 321,374          300,623          
Receivables (a) 172,550          157,303          

Financial Liabilities
Payables 584,329          391,106          

(c) Financial instrument disclosures
Credit risk

Carrying 
Amount

Not past due 
and not 
impaired

Up to 3 
months

3-12 
months

 More than 1 
year 

 Impaired 
Financial 
Assets 

$ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
2011

Cash and cash equivalent 1,789,826       1,789,826   -              -            -               -                 
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 321,374          321,374      -              -            -               -                 
Receivables  (a) 172,550          73,710        63,335        32,762      2,743            3,951              

2,283,749       2,184,909   63,335        32,762      2,743            3,951              
2010

Cash and cash equivalent 3,748,708       3,748,708   -              -            -               -                 
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 300,623          300,623      -              -            -               -                 
Receivables  (a) 157,303          128,840      28,462        -            -               10,221            

4,206,634       4,178,171   28,462        -            -               10,221            

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
Maturity date

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest Rate

Variable 
Interest Rate

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 Total 
Nominal 
Amount Up to 1 month 1-3 months

 3 months-1 
year 1-5 Years 

 More than 
5 years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
2011

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.54% 1,789,826       -              1,784,926   4,900        1,789,826     1,789,826       -                -                 -                -            
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 4.54% 321,374          -              321,374      -            321,374        -                 -                -                 321,374        -            
Receivables  (a) Nil 172,550          -              -              172,550    172,550        172,550          -                -                 -                -            

2,283,749       -              2,106,300   177,450    2,283,749     1,962,375       -                -                 321,374        -            
Financial Liabilities
Payables Nil 584,329          -              -              584,329    584,329        584,329          -                -                 -                -            

584,329          -              -              584,329    584,329        584,329          -                -                 -                -            

In addition to cash, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period are:

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Institute's income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Institute does not trade in foreign currency and 
is not materially exposed to other price risks. The Institute's exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates 
primarily to short-term cash rates at bank as it has no borrowings.

Past due but not impaired

Interest rate exposure

The Institute does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds.

The Institute does not hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise 
resulted in them being past due or impaired.

Liquidity risk arises when the Institute is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Institute is exposed 
to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Institute has appropriate procedures to manage 
cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are 
available to meet its commitments.

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table discloses the Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposure and the ageing 
analysis of financial assets. The Institute's maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the 
carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due 
but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the 
Institute.

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

The following table details the contractual maturity analysis for fincancial liabilities. The contractual maturity amounts are 
representative of the undiscounted amounts as at the end of the reporting period. The table includes interest and principal 
cash flows. An adjustment has been made where material.

Ageing analysis of financial assets (a)

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest Rate

Variable 
Interest Rate

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 Nominal 
Amount Up to 1 month 1-3 months

 3 months-1 
year 1-5 Years 

 More than 
5 years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
2010

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.50% 3,748,708       -              3,742,808   5,900        3,748,708     3,748,708       -                -                 -                -            
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 4.50% 300,623          -              300,623      -            300,623        47,983            -                -                 252,640        -            
Receivables  (a) Nil 157,303          -              -              157,303    157,303        157,303          -                -                 -                -            

4,206,634       -              4,043,431   163,203    4,206,634     3,953,994       -                -                 252,640        -            

Financial Liabilities
Payables Nil 391,106          -              -              391,106    391,106        391,106          -                -                 -                -            

391,106          -              -              391,106    391,106        391,106          -                -                 -                -            

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

2011 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 1,784,926       (17,849)       (17,849)       17,849          17,849            
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 321,374          (3,214)         (3,214)         3,214            3,214              
Total Increase / (Decrease) (21,063)       (21,063)       21,063          21,063            

Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

2010 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 3,742,808       (37,428)       (37,428)       37,428          37,428            
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 300,623          (3,006)         (3,006)         3,006            3,006              
Total Increase / (Decrease) (40,434)       (40,434)       40,434          40,434            

35 Remuneration of members of the Institute and senior officers

$ 2011 2010
       $0 - $10,000 8                     8                     

$190,001 - $200,000 1                     1                     

$ $
The total remuneration of the members of the Institute is: 218,745          187,870          

Remuneration of senior officers

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

+ 100 Basis Points- 100 Basis Points

+ 100 Basis Points- 100 Basis Points

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute's financial assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed 
that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

The number of members of the Institute whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other 
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of members of the Institute.

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

Remuneration of members of the Institute

C.Y. O'Connor Institute
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 11GLACT 10GLACT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011 2010
$ $
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Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate
Carrying 
Amount

Fixed 
Interest Rate

Variable 
Interest Rate

 Non-
Interest 
Bearing 

 Nominal 
Amount Up to 1 month 1-3 months

 3 months-1 
year 1-5 Years 

 More than 
5 years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $
2010

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 4.50% 3,748,708       -              3,742,808   5,900        3,748,708     3,748,708       -                -                 -                -            
Restricted cash  and cash equivalent 4.50% 300,623          -              300,623      -            300,623        47,983            -                -                 252,640        -            
Receivables  (a) Nil 157,303          -              -              157,303    157,303        157,303          -                -                 -                -            

4,206,634       -              4,043,431   163,203    4,206,634     3,953,994       -                -                 252,640        -            

Financial Liabilities
Payables Nil 391,106          -              -              391,106    391,106        391,106          -                -                 -                -            

391,106          -              -              391,106    391,106        391,106          -                -                 -                -            

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

2011 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 1,784,926       (17,849)       (17,849)       17,849          17,849            
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 321,374          (3,214)         (3,214)         3,214            3,214              
Total Increase / (Decrease) (21,063)       (21,063)       21,063          21,063            

Carrying 
amount Surplus Equity Surplus  Equity 

2010 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalent 3,742,808       (37,428)       (37,428)       37,428          37,428            
Restricted cash and cash equivalent 300,623          (3,006)         (3,006)         3,006            3,006              
Total Increase / (Decrease) (40,434)       (40,434)       40,434          40,434            

35 Remuneration of members of the Institute and senior officers

$ 2011 2010
       $0 - $10,000 8                     8                     

$190,001 - $200,000 1                     1                     

$ $
The total remuneration of the members of the Institute is: 218,745          187,870          

Remuneration of senior officers

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

(a)  The amount of receivables excludes the GST receivables from the ATO (statutory receivable).

+ 100 Basis Points- 100 Basis Points

+ 100 Basis Points- 100 Basis Points

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Institute's financial assets and liabilities at 
the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed 
that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

The number of members of the Institute whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other 
benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

Total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of members of the Institute.

The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the Institute, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

Remuneration of members of the Institute

2011 2010
$

$50,001 - $60,000 -                 1                     
$90,001 - $100,000 1                     -                 

$120,001  -$130,000 1                     -                 
$130,001 - $140,000 2                     -                 
$140,001 - $150,000 -                 1                     
$160,001 - $170,000 -                 2                     
$180,001 - $190,000 -                 1                     

$ $
The total remuneration of senior officers is: 485,835          711,889          

36 Remuneration of auditor

2011 2010
$ $
63,100            57,500            

The expense is included in note 9 'Other expenses'.

37 Related bodies
The Institute has no related bodies.

38 Affiliated bodies
The Institute has no affiliated bodies.

39 Supplementary financial information
2011 2010

Write-Offs $ $
Public property 66                   -                 
Bad debts 5,444              5,546              
Inventory -                 718                 
Other (provide details) 30                   -                 

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
5                     1,902              

Amount recovered -                 -                 

Gifts of Public Property
Gifts of Public Property provided by the Institute 6,381              8,165              

40 Schedule of income and expenditure by service

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of senior officers other 
than senior officers as members of the Institute.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

Losses of public and other moneys and public and other property through theft, default or otherwise

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (9) and that is Vocational Education 
and Training Delivery.

C.Y. O'Connor Institute
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 11GLACT 10GLACT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011 2010
$ $
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2011 2010
$

$50,001 - $60,000 -                 1                     
$90,001 - $100,000 1                     -                 

$120,001  -$130,000 1                     -                 
$130,001 - $140,000 2                     -                 
$140,001 - $150,000 -                 1                     
$160,001 - $170,000 -                 2                     
$180,001 - $190,000 -                 1                     

$ $
The total remuneration of senior officers is: 485,835          711,889          

36 Remuneration of auditor

2011 2010
$ $
63,100            57,500            

The expense is included in note 9 'Other expenses'.

37 Related bodies
The Institute has no related bodies.

38 Affiliated bodies
The Institute has no affiliated bodies.

39 Supplementary financial information
2011 2010

Write-Offs $ $
Public property 66                   -                 
Bad debts 5,444              5,546              
Inventory -                 718                 
Other (provide details) 30                   -                 

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
5                     1,902              

Amount recovered -                 -                 

Gifts of Public Property
Gifts of Public Property provided by the Institute 6,381              8,165              

40 Schedule of income and expenditure by service

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Institute in respect of senior officers other 
than senior officers as members of the Institute.

No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators

Losses of public and other moneys and public and other property through theft, default or otherwise

The Institute provides only one service (as defined by Treasurer's Instruction 1101 (9) and that is Vocational Education 
and Training Delivery.

C.Y. O'Connor Institute
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS 11GLACT 10GLACT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011 2010
$ $



In accordance with Treasurer’s Instructions 953 the annual estimates for the current financial year (2012) are hereby 
included in the annual report. These estimates do not form part of the financial statement and are not subject to audit.

2010 AUDITED 
$

2011 ESTIMATE 
$

2011 Est ACT 31/12/2011  
$

2012 ESTIMATE 
$

COST OF SERVICES

Expenses

Employee benefits expense 10,800,685 9,503,636 12,255,348 11,858,885

Supplies and services 4,055,157 3,064,544 3,871,512 3,201,088

Depreciation and amortisation expense 562,599 620,187 562,173 562,173

Finance costs 19,692

Grants and subsidies

Payments to Non TAFE Providers for VET Delivery

Loss on disposal of non-current assets

Cost of sales 163,635 126,827 233,699 242,112

Other expenses 1,286,512 870,031 1,145,494 909,151

Total Cost of Services 16,868,588 14,204,917 18,068,226 16,773,409

Income

Revenue

Fee for service 198,594 542,852 342,141 400,000

Student charges and fees 918,036 861,405 961,616 1,002,926

Ancillary trading 427 716 4,572 4,736

Sales 232,582 258,370 295,486 306,123

Commonwealth grants and contributions 347,783

Interest revenue 214,726 195,041 177,899 140,000

Other revenue 233,545 240,259 129,312 514,863

Total Revenue 2,145,693 2,098,643 1,911,026 2,368,648

Gains

Gain on disposal of non-current assets 54,199 15,073

Other gains

Total Gains 54,199 0 15,073 0

Total income other than income from State 
Government

2,199,892 2,098,643 1,926,099 2,368,648

NET COST OF SERVICES -14,668,696 -12,106,274 -16,142,127 -14,404,761

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT

State funds  12,513,380  11,328,526  13,482,659  13,624,450 

Assets assumed/(transferred)

Resources received free of charge  174,731 780,993  188,167  194,941 

Total income from State Government 12,688,111 12,109,519 13,670,826 13,819,391

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD -1,980,585 3,245 -2,471,301 -585,370

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation reserve  (459,350.00)  200,000.00  -    -   

Gains/(losses) recognised directly in equity  -    -    23,559.00  -   

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD

-2,439,935 203,245 -2,447,742 -585,370

 

Statement oF  

comprehenSive incomeSection 40 eStimateS For 2012
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2010 AUDITED 
$

2011 ESTIMATE 
$

2011 Est ACT 31/12/2011  
$

2012 ESTIMATE 
$

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3,748,708 4,574,307 2,216,393 2,513,432

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 47,983 15,570 0

Inventories 47,108 40,000 17,839 17,839

Receivables 187,457 159,999 152,878 152,878

Amounts receivable for services

Other current assets 79,889 90,000 21,365 21,365

Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Total Current Assets 4,111,145 4,864,306 2,424,045 2,705,514

Non-Current Assets

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 252,640 200,000 360,742 410,742

Inventories

Receivables

Amounts receivable for services

Property, plant and equipment 12,052,783 13,511,448 14,005,768 13,443,595

Intangible assets

Other non-current assets

Total Non-Current Assets 12,305,423 13,711,448 14,366,510 13,854,337

TOTAL ASSETS 16,416,568 18,575,754 16,790,555 16,559,851

LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities

Payables 391,106 350,000 725,896 725,896

Borrowings

Amounts due to the Treasurer

Provisions 1,835,721 1,450,000 1,707,997 2,062,663

Other current liabilities 215,247 -37,794 -37,794

"Liabilities directly associated with non-current 
assets classifiedas held for sale"

Total Current Liabilities 2,442,074 1,800,000 2,396,099 2,750,765

Non-Current Liabilities

Payables

Borrowings

Provisions 462,391 600,000 940,982 940,982

Other non-current liabilities     

Total Non-Current Liabilities 462,391 600,000 940,982 940,982

TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,904,465 2,400,000 3,337,081 3,691,747

NET ASSETS 13,512,103 16,175,754 13,453,474 12,868,104

EQUITY

Contributed Equity 176,634 176,634 2,565,747 2,565,747

Reserves 5,278,228 6,137,578 5,278,228 5,278,228

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency) 8,057,241 9,861,542 5,609,499 5,024,129

TOTAL EQUITY 13,512,103 16,175,754 13,453,474 12,868,104

balance SheetSection 40 eStimateS For 2012
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    Northam Campus
Lot 1 Hutt Street 
PO Box 498 
Northam WA 6401
Ph: 1800 627 256
Library: 9622 6740
Bookshop: 9622 6744
email: northam@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Narrogin Campus
59 Fortune Street
PO Box 457
Narrogin WA 6312
Ph: 9881 9000
email: narrogin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Merredin Campus
42 Throssell Road 
PO Box 542 
Merredin WA 6415
Ph: 9081 3555
email: merredin@cyoc.wa.edu.au

    Moora Campus
242 Berkshire Valley Road 
PO Box 329 
Moora WA 6510
Ph: 9651 0111
email: moora@cyoc.wa.edu.au
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